# SPECIAL MEETING NOTICE/AGENDA OF THE SPOKANE CITY COUNCIL

# MEETING OF THURSDAY, JUNE 29, 2023 1:30 P.M.

A special meeting of the Spokane City Council will be held at **1:30 p.m. on Thursday**, **June 29, 2023**, in City Council Chambers – Lower Level, City Hall, 808 W. Spokane Falls Blvd., Spokane, Washington. The purpose of the special meeting is to hold a study session followed by a Special Legislative Session to consider the agreements and resolution listed below.

The study session portion of the meeting will be conducted in a study session format and will be open to the public both virtually and in person. No legislative action will be taken. No public testimony will be taken, and discussion will be limited to appropriate officials and staff.

Public Testimony will be taken at the Special Legislative Session. Members of the public can sign up to testify between 12:30 p.m. – 1:30 p.m. outside of Council Chambers or online at https://forms.gle/rFKk4Z5Yk13gsQ668.

The public is encouraged to attend in person, or to tune in at <a href="my.spokanecity.org/citycable5/live">my.spokanecity.org/citycable5/live</a> or <a href="www.facebook.com/spokanecitycouncil">www.facebook.com/spokanecitycouncil</a> or by calling 1-408-418-9388; access code 2482 197 1593.

# **Executive Session**

At any time during or after the study session or Special Legislative Session, the City Council may choose to adjourn into Executive Session for the purpose of discussing privileged legal matters. This portion of the meeting would be closed to the public pursuant to RCW 42.30.110.

### STUDY SESSION

# Agenda:

Contract agreement between City of Spokane and Phoenix Counseling Services

– Howard Delaney (5 min)

Interim City Attorney Resolution – Council President Beggs & Council Member Zappone (15 min)

Discussion on Regional Homeless Authority – Council President Beggs & Council Member Bingle (20 min)

ARPA Update – Matt Boston (10 min)

# SPECIAL LEGISLATIVE SESSION

Roll Call

# CONSENT AGENDA Reports, Contracts and Claims

OPR 2023-0654 Agreement between City of Spokane and Spokane Police Guild

(2023-2026).

OPR 2023-0658 Personal Services Agreement between City of Spokane and Phoenix

Counseling Services, LLC (Spokane) for domestic violence screening, treatment assessment, and treatment from May 1, 2023,

through April 30, 2024-\$192,000 (plus applicable tax).

# **LEGISLATIVE AGENDA**

RES 2023-0051 Stating the Spokane City Council's position on the appointment of

the current candidate serving in an interim capacity as the Interim

City Attorney.

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) INFORMATION: The City of Spokane is committed to providing equal access to its facilities, programs and services for persons with disabilities. The Spokane City Council Chamber in the lower level of Spokane City Hall, 808 W. Spokane Falls Blvd., is wheelchair accessible and is equipped with an infrared assistive listening system for persons with hearing loss. Headsets may be checked out (upon presentation of picture I.D.) at the City Cable 5 Production Booth located on the First Floor of the Municipal Building, directly above the Chase Gallery or through the meeting organizer. Individuals requesting reasonable accommodations or further information may call, write, or email Risk Management at 509.625.6221, 808 W. Spokane Falls Blvd, Spokane, WA, 99201; or <a href="mlowmaster@spokanecity.org">mlowmaster@spokanecity.org</a>. Persons who are deaf or hard of hearing may contact Risk Management through the Washington Relay Service at 7-1-1. Please contact us forty-eight (48) hours before the meeting date.

Breean Beggs Council President Terri L. Pfister
Spokane City Clerk

SPOKANE Agenda Sheet for City Council Meeting of:		Date Rec'd	6/22/2023
06/29/2023		Clerk's File #	OPR 2023-0654
		Renews #	
Submitting Dept	CITY ATTORNEY	Cross Ref #	
<b>Contact Name/Phone</b>	MIKE PICCOLO 6237	Project #	
Contact E-Mail	MPICCOLO@SPOKANECITY.ORG	Bid #	
Agenda Item Type	Contract Item	Requisition #	
Agenda Item Name	0500 - AGREEMENT BETWEEN CITY OF SPOKANE AND SPOKANE POLICE GUILD		
	2023-2026		

# **Agenda Wording**

Agreement between City of Spokane and Spokane Police Guild (2023-2026)

# **Summary (Background)**

The City and the Police Guild entered into a one-year collective bargaining agreement for 2023 after the prior CBA term was completed. The parties have negotiated a four-year agreement for 2023 through 2026. The finance provisions of the CBA include increases in wages in the amounts of 5% for 2023, 7% for 2024, 7% for 2025 and between 3.5% and 7% based on CPI for 2026. Other financial elements of the CBA include increase in wages for additional education and special events and bar patrol.

110		D 11: W 1 2 NO	
_	rant related? NO	Public Works? NO	
<u>Impact</u>		<b>Budget Account</b>	
\$		#	
\$		#	
\$		#	
\$		#	
<u>/als</u>		<b>Council Notification</b>	<u>s</u>
ead ead	PICCOLO, MIKE	Study Session\Other	PIES 06/26/2023
n Director		Council Sponsor	CP Beggs & CM Cathcart
2	WALLACE, TONYA	<b>Distribution List</b>	
	HARRINGTON,	mpiccolo@spokanecity.org	
	MARGARET		
<u>Mayor</u>	SMITHSON, LYNDEN	dmoss@spokanecity.org	
onal Approval	<u>s</u>	jquick@spokanecity.org	
sin <u>g</u>		accountingpayroll@spokan	ecity.org
	s s s yals ead Director	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$  Yals PICCOLO, MIKE  Director WALLACE, TONYA HARRINGTON, MARGARET SMITHSON, LYNDEN  Donal Approvals	Budget Account   #   #   #     #

# Committee Agenda Sheet Public Infrastructure, Environment & Sustainability Committee

Submitting Department	Legal Department		
Contact Name	Mike Piccolo		
Contact Email & Phone	mpiccolo@spokanecity.org/625-6237		
Council Sponsor(s)	Council President Beggs and Council Member Cathcart		
Select Agenda Item Type	☐ Consent ☐ Discussion Time Requested: 5		
Agenda Item Name	Agreement between City of Spokane and Spokane Police Guild (2023-2026)		
*use the Fiscal Impact box below for relevant financial information	The City and the Police Guild entered into a one-year collective bargaining agreement for 2023 after the prior CBA term was completed. The parties have negotiated a four-year agreement for 2023 through 2026. The finance provisions of the CBA include increases in wages in the amounts of 5% for 2023, 7% for 2024, 7% for 2025 and between 3.5% and 7% based on CPI for 2026. Other financial elements of the CBA include increase in wages for additional education and special events and bar patrol. The CBA also includes amendments to provisions relating to the Office of Police Ombudsman among other provisions.		
Proposed Council Action	Approve at the June 29, 2023 special council meeting.		
Fiscal Impact			
Total Cost: Click or tap here to enter text.  Approved in current year budget?   ✓ Yes □ No □ N/A			
Funding Source ☐ One-time ☒ Recurring  Specify funding source: Click or tap here to enter text.			
Expense Occurrence   One-time   Recurring			
Other budget impacts: (revenue generating, match requirements, etc.)			
Operations Impacts (If N/A, please give a brief description as to why)			
What impacts would the proposal have on historically excluded communities?			
How will data be collected, analyzed, and reported concerning the effect of the program/policy by racial, ethnic, gender identity, national origin, income level, disability, sexual orientation, or other existing disparities?			
How will data be collected regarding the effectiveness of this program, policy or product to ensure it is the right solution?			

Describe how this proposal aligns with current City Policies, including the Comprehensive Plan, Sustainability Action Plan, Capital Improvement Program, Neighborhood Master Plans, Council Resolutions, and others?

# **TA June 2023**

# **AGREEMENT**

between

**CITY OF SPOKANE** 

and

**SPOKANE POLICE GUILD** 

(<del>2017-2021</del><u>2023-2026</u>)

# **Contents**

PREAMBLE	
EMBODIMENT	
LABOR MANAGEMENT MEETINGS	
ARTICLE 1 – RECOGNITION	
ARTICLE 2 - CONDITIONS AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT – TERMINATION	2
ARTICLE 3 - EMPLOYER RESPONSIBILITIES	2
ARTICLE 4 – CHECKOFF	3
ARTICLE 5 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE - PERMANENT UMPIRE	
Section A - Grievance Procedure Steps	
Section B - Arbitration	
SECTION C - TIME LIMITS	
ARTICLE 6 - CITY SECURITY	6
SECTION A	6
Section B	6
SECTION C	
SECTION D	
SECTION F	
ARTICLE 7 – HOLIDAYS	
SECTION A	
SECTION B - WORK ON A NON-FLOATING HOLIDAY	8
ARTICLE 8 - COURT TIME	
SECTION A	
Section B	g
SECTION C	
ARTICLE 9 - OVERTIME	10
Section A - Miscellaneous	
SECTION B - OVERTIME RATE	
SECTION C - COMPENSATORY TIME OFFSECTION D - ON CALL	
ARTICLE 10 - CONTRACT PERSONNEL	
ARTICLE 11 - WAGES	
SERVICE ADVANCEMENT	15

ACTING SERGEANTSPECIALTY PAY	16
LONGEVITY	
SHIFT PREMIUMEXTRA DUTY WAGES	
BASIC LAW ENFORCEMENT TRAINING (BLET)	
ARTICLE 12 – VACATION	
ARTICLE 13 - UNIFORMS	20
ARTICLE 14 - SPECIAL EQUIPMENT	21
ARTICLE 15 - REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT OF PERSONAL PROPERTY	22
ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE	22
SECTION A - FAMILY EMERGENCY LEAVE (LEOFF I AND LEOFF II)	22
SECTION B - FAMILY LEAVE	23
SECTION C - FUNERAL LEAVE (LEOFF I AND LEOFF II)	
SECTION D - ILLNESS LEAVE (LEOFF II)	
SECTION E - DISABILITY LEAVE (LEOFF II OFFICERS ONLY)	
SECTION F - APPLICATION FOR LEAVE	
Section G – Maternity Leave Section H – Active Duty Call Up	
Section I - Care for Minor Children	
ARTICLE 17 - GENERAL PROVISIONS	
Section A - Pledge Against Discrimination	27
SECTION B - GUILD BULLETIN BOARD	
SECTION C - GUILD ACTIVITIES ON CITY'S TIME AND PREMISES	
Section D - Guild Business - Paid Leaves	
SECTION E - SENIORITY	
SECTION F - SENIORITY LISTS	
SECTION G - ANNUAL BID FOR SHIFTS	
SECTION H - TRANSFERS	
Section I - Special AssignmentsSection J - VEBA Medical Savings Trust	
Section K - Duplication of Benefits	
SECTION L - LEOFF II LIGHT DUTY	
ARTICLE 18 – SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS	
ARTICLE 19 - SAVING CLAUSE	34
ARTICLE 20 - JURY DUTY	34
ARTICLE 21 – MISCELLANEOUS	34
Section A - Negotiations	
Section B - Mileage Allowance	
Section C - Tuition Reimbursement	
SECTION D - JOINT COMMITTEE	

SECTION E - SWAT TEAM	35
SECTION F - ON DUTY PHYSICAL FITNESS TRAINING	
Section G – Leave Sharing	
SECTION H – SWING SHIFT PARKING	41
ARTICLE 22 - SALARY COMPUTATIONS	42
Section A - Regular Hourly Rate	
Section B - Pay Periods and Pay Checks	42
ARTICLE 23 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION	42
Section A - Deferred comp	42
SECTION B - DEFERRED COMP EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS	42
Section C - VEBA Alternative	43
ARTICLE 24 - DISCIPLINE	43
Section A - General	43
SECTION B - FORMS OF DISCIPLINE	
SECTION C - RIGHT OF APPEAL	
Section D(1) - Probationary Periods	
Section D(2) - Right of Petition	
SECTION E - POLICE OFFICER RIGHTS IN DISCIPLINE	45
ARTICLE 25 - DRUG TESTING	48
SECTION A	48
SECTION B	
SECTION C	
SECTION D	
SECTION E	52
Section F	52
ARTICLE 26 – HEALTH AND WELFARE	52
SECTION A - INSURANCE	52
ARTICLE 27 - CIVILIAN REVIEW	55
ARTICI F 28 - SALARY SAVINGS PLAN	71

# **PREAMBLE**

This Agreement entered into by the City of Spokane, Washington, hereinafter referred to as the City and the Spokane Police Guild, hereinafter referred to as the Guild, has as its purpose the promotion of harmonious relations between the City and the Guild and the establishment of an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences.

# **EMBODIMENT**

The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which preceded this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement, each voluntarilyand unqualifiedly waive the right, and each agree that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectivelywith respect to any known subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement.

# **LABOR MANAGEMENT MEETINGS**

It is mutually agreed that the City Management and the Police Guild shall work together individually and collectively to provide the public with efficient and courteous service, to encourage good attendance of employees and to promote a climate of labor relations that will aid in achieving a high level of efficiency in the Spokane Police Department.

# **ARTICLE 1 – RECOGNITION**

The City recognizes the Guild as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purpose of establishing salaries, wages, hours, and other conditions of employment for all of its commissioned police employees with the exception of the Chief of Police, Assistant Police Chiefs, Majors, Directors, Captains, and Lieutenants.

# <u>ARTICLE 2 - CONDITIONS AND DURATION OF AGREEMENT - TERMINATION</u>

This Agreement shall be in effect as of the first day of January 2017-2023 and shall remain in full force and effect through the thirty-first day of December 20212026.

This Agreement shall remain in full force and be effective during the period of negotiations and until notice of termination of this Agreement is provided to the other party in the manner set forth in the following paragraph. In the event that either party desires to terminate this Agreement, written notice must be given to the other party not less than thirty (30) days prior to the desired termination date, which date shall not be before the expiration of this contract.

# **ARTICLE 3 - EMPLOYER RESPONSIBILITIES**

Management Rights - The Guild recognizes the City's rights concerned with efficient management and operation of the department are exclusively that of the City Police Department Administration unless otherwise provided through the terms of this Agreement or by operation of RCW 41.56. In addition, management has the right to assign work within the bargaining unit and to determine the number of personnel to be assigned at any time and to perform all of the functions not otherwise expressly limited by this Agreement or applicable law.

The Guild recognizes that an area of responsibility must be reserved to management if it is to function effectively. In recognition of this principle, it is agreed that the following responsibilities are not subject to collective bargaining and are management responsibilities of the City. Unless specifically modified by sections in this Agreement, management retains the exclusive right to:

- 1. Determine the management of the organization, and the selection, retention, and promotion for occupations not within the scope of this Agreement.
  - 2. Direct employees of the bargaining unit in the performance of their official duties.
- 3. To hire, assign, transfer and evaluate employees in positions in the bargaining unit; provided that disciplinary transfers must be for just cause; and to suspend, demote, discharge, or take other disciplinary action against such employees for just cause.

- 4. To determine the methods, means and equipment by which departmental operations are to be conducted, provided that this section shall not extend to assigning work outside of the bargaining unit.
- 5. To take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out police functions in emergency situations.
- 6. To determine the necessity of overtime and the amount thereof, provided that the City shall pay for all time worked.
  - 7. To maintain efficiency of government operations entrusted to management.
- 8. To assign employees to specific jobs, determine job content and/or duties and to consolidate jobs within the bargaining unit.
  - 9. To lay off employees in accordance with current Civil Service Rules.

The above listing of specific management rights is not intended nor shall be considered restrictive or, act as a waiver of any rights of the City not listed herein. Such inherent management responsibilities are not subject to arbitration and shall remain exclusively with the City except as they may be shared with the Guild by specific provisions of the Agreement.

# **ARTICLE 4 - CHECKOFF**

The City agrees to deduct the Guild membership initiation fee, assessments, and, once each month, Guild dues from the pay of those employees who individually request in writing that such deduction be made. The type of deduction cards to be used shall be certified to the City by the Treasurer of the Guild.

# **ARTICLE 5 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE - PERMANENT UMPIRE**

# Section A - Grievance Procedure Steps

- 1. Any grievance or dispute which may arise between parties concerning the application, meaning, or interpretation of this Agreement, shall be settled in the manner prescribed by this grievance procedure.
- 2. A "Grievance" is defined as a claim or dispute by an employee, group of employees, or authorized Guild representatives concerning the interpretation or application of the provisions of this

Agreement. Nothing in this procedure shall prohibit an employee from discussing a complaint directly with his supervisor or department head without representation by the Guild as provided by State Law.

3. Should a subject for claim or dispute arise, there shall be no stoppage of work by employees, but an earnest effort shall be made to settle such claims or disputes promptly and in the manner hereinafter outlined. Prior to initiating a written grievance, an employee shall attempt to resolve the matter with his/her supervisor, or in their absence, with the next person in the chain of command.

# Step 1

A grievance may be presented to the Police Chief or designee by a Guild Executive Board Officer or designee within twenty-eight (28) calendar days of the alleged occurrence, in writing, setting forth:

- a. The nature of the grievance;
- b. A statement of the facts upon which the grievance is based;
- c. The provisions of the Agreement allegedly violated, and;
- d. A statement of the relief desired.

# Step 2

The Police Chief or designee shall attempt to settle the grievance within twenty-one (21) calendar days after it has been presented.

# Step 3

If the grievance is not settled by the Police Chief within the time allowed, it may be presented to the City Administrator, with a copy to the Human Resources Department, by a Guild Executive Board Officer or designee within twenty-one (21) calendar days of the Police Chief's response or the expiration of the time limit in step 2.

# Step 4

The City Administrator shall have twenty-one (21) calendar days to review the grievance. If the City Administrator does not respond or otherwise settle the grievance within the twenty-one day period,

the grievance may be advanced to step 5 within twenty-one (21) days of the Step 3 response or, if not received within the allotted time period, the date the response was due.

# Step 5

If the grievance is not settled at Step 4, the dispute will be referred to the negotiating committee of both parties. The two committees shall meet within fourteen (14) calendar days to consider the dispute. At that meeting, all pertinent facts and information will be reviewed in an effort to resolve the matter through conciliation. If no satisfactory solution is reached in this step, the matter may be submitted to arbitration within twenty-eight (28) calendar days of the conciliation meeting.

# **Section B - Arbitration**

For all grievances not subject to RCW 41.58.070), The parties shall attempt to select an arbitrator by mutual agreement. If the parties have been unableto select an arbitrator within ten (10) days, the Arbitrator shall be selected from a list of names of seven arbitrators obtained from the Federal Mediation and Conciliation Service, using the alternate strike methodwithin ten days of receipt of the list. Once both parties have had three strikes, the remaining arbitrator on the list shall hear the case. The arbitrator shall conduct the arbitration within six months of the appointment unless otherwise agreed by the parties. The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties. For grievances subject to RCW 41.58.070, the arbitrator shall be assigned by PERC pursuant to the process established by RCW 41.58.070.

- 1. The Arbitrator shall make his/her own rules of procedure. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to amend, alter, or modify this Agreement or its terms and shall limit his/her decision solely to the interpretation and application of this Agreement.
- 2. Each grievance or dispute will be submitted separately except when the City and the Police Guild mutually agree to have more than one grievance or dispute submitted to the Arbitrator.
- 3. The City and the Police Guild shall bear the expense of the Arbitrator and related stenographic expenses on an equal basis.
- 4. Each party shall bear the costs of their own attorney(s) unless the City either fails to abide by an Arbitration award thereby requiring the Guild to seek judicial enforcement or appeals the same into the courts. In such an event, this provision shall have no force and effect retroactive to the Spokane Police Guild Agreement

initiation of the grievance procedure.

5. The decision of the Arbitrator shall be issued within thirty (30) days of the close of the hearing and scheduled receipt of any post-hearing briefs.

# **Section C - Time Limits**

Time limits may be extended by mutual written agreement. Except as otherwise provided herein, if the City fails to comply with any of the above time limits, the matter will be settled in favor of the Guild's last requested remedy. If the aggrieved/Guild fails to comply with any of the above time limits, the grievance is dropped and the City's position sustained. While forfeiture under this clause will finally resolve the matter in dispute, it will not establish a precedent between the parties on issues of contractual interpretation. There shall be no interruption of work while grievances are being resolved.

# **ARTICLE 6 - CITY SECURITY**

# Section A

The Guild and the Police Officers agree that during the life of this Agreement they will not cause, encourage, participate in, or support any strike against management or any slowdown or other interruption of or interference with the normal work routine of any law enforcement activities or agencies.

# Section B

Violation of any provision of this Article by the Guild shall be cause for the City terminating this Agreement upon the giving of written notice to this effect to the President of the Guild in addition to whatever other remedies may be available to the City at law or in equity.

# Section C

Violation of any of the provisions of this Article by any Police Officer shall be cause for the immediate discharge of that officer. Except as otherwise provided by law, no Police Officer shall receive any portion of his or her salary while engaging in activity in violation of this Article.

### Section D

In the event of a strike, work stoppage, or interference with the operation of the Police Department, the President of the Guild shall within twenty-four (24) hours publicly disavow such strike or work stoppage Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-20212023-2026

and request the employees return to work and attempt to bring about prompt resumption of normal operation. Such request shall be made in writing with a copy of such written request supplied to the City. The Guild shall notify the City within twenty-four (24) hours after the commencement of such work interruption as to the measures taken to comply with the provisions of this Article.

# Section E

In the event the provisions of this Article are not complied with, the City may proceed directly to court in order to obtain any and all possible judicial relief, as well as pursuing whatever remedies are available under this Agreement.

# Section F

The City agrees that there shall be no lockout of Police Department employees under any circumstances.

# **ARTICLE 7 – HOLIDAYS**

# Section A

The following holidays shall be recognized by permanent employees on the days established by the City for that holiday, except that patrol employees shall observe the actual holiday on New Years, Independence Day, and Christmas Day.

- 1. New Year's Day
- 2. Memorial Day
- 3. Independence Day
- 4. Labor Day
- 5. Thanksgiving Day
- 6. Friday after Thanksgiving Day
- 7. Christmas Day
- 8. Forty hours of Six Floating Holidays accrued at ten (10) hours per holiday

9. Any day that is designated as a legal holiday by the State Legislature or by a state official who has been granted legal authority to declare such a holiday.

The floating holidays shall be taken at a time mutually agreeable by the employee and the Police Chief within the policy established for this holiday and may be utilized by the hour.

Current employees will be credited with all floating holidays on January 1 of the respective calendar year. New hires credit of floating holidays shall be prorated based upon fifteen hours per each quarter of the year. New hires hired between January 1 - March 31 shall receive 60 hours, between April 1 – June 30 shall receive 45 hours, between July 1- September 30 shall receive 30 hours, and between October 1-December 31 shall receive 15 hours, which shall be credited on the date of hire.

When a holiday falls on an employee's regular day off, the employee will receive compensatory time or pay for that day. An employee on approved paid leave shall be eligible for holiday pay. When a holiday falls during an employee's regular vacation period, that day will not be charged against the employee's vacation. The manner of compensation will be determined by the Chief of Police.

Those members of the bargaining unit who are normally scheduled to work four ten hour shifts per week but are released from work on a normally scheduled work on a day in observance of any of the eightseven specifically designated holidays, will be granted 10 hours of holiday pay consistent with their normally scheduled hours. In such situations, an eight (8) hour employee shall receive eight (8) hours of holiday pay. Such holiday pay shall not be charged against any other source of paid leave other than the specific holiday that is observed.

# Section B - Work on a Non-Floating Holiday

When an employee takes the day off or is considered non-essential for the holiday, he/she will be paid eight (8), ten (10) or ten and sixty seven hundredths (10.67) hours for the day depending on the employees' work schedule.

When an employee works on any of the holidays listed above, he/she shall be paid eight (8), ten (10) or ten and sixty seven hundredths (10.67) hours of holiday pay depending on the work schedule the employee is assigned to. All employees who work on a designated holiday shall be paid an additional one and Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-20212023-2026

one-half (1 ½) times their current regular rate of pay for all hours worked on the holiday. The employee has the option of taking pay or comp for the time worked on the holiday, as provided in Article 9, section C.

Any hours worked that are in excess of the normal shift period will be considered overtime and will be paid at two and one-half (2 ½) times their current regular rate of pay for all overtime hours worked on a holiday. The employee has the option of taking pay or comp for overtime worked on a holiday. The holiday pay (straight time) portion will not be available as compensatory time.

# **ARTICLE 8 - COURT TIME**

# Section A

When an officer is required to appear in court outside the regular duty hours, they shall be paid a minimum of two (2) hours, except where such appearance is an extension of the regularly scheduled shift. If an officer is required to appear on the officer's day off or while on vacation, the officer shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours at the time and one half (1  $\frac{1}{2}$ ) rate.

Court is defined as any court of law or administrative hearing where the officer is required to appear, including pretrial conferences with the attorneys representing the prosecution in a criminal case or the City in a civil suit.

Employees who have been served a subpoena shall appear in court unless notified otherwise by the prosecutor or a court official. Prosecutors and court officials cannot authorize stand-by pay. If the need to appear cannot be clarified once the subpoena has been served, employees should respond and be available to testify.

If the officer failed to clear with the court, prior to vacation, the above would not apply as vacation court pay.

When an employee is required to provide telephonic testimony on a day off or outside regular duty hours, they shall be paid a minimum of one (1) hour at the rate of time and one-half (1 ½) for the time they are required to be available and to give testimony. This provision applies to administrative hearings and court proceedings in which the employee has been subpoenaed.

#### Section B

Spokane Police Guild Agreement <del>2017–2021</del>2023-2026

The above provision shall not apply when the court time starts during the employee's regular work shift and extends beyond the end of the shift. When the court time commences on the employee's regular shift and extends beyond the work shift, time and one-half (1½) shall be paid for the number of hours beyond the regular shift.

# **Section C**

Employees shall have the option of selecting court time pay or compensatory time off.

# **ARTICLE 9 – OVERTIME**

# **Section A - Miscellaneous**

<u>Temporary Schedule Adjustment</u> – It is understood that employees in unique assignments such as the Special Investigative Unit, <u>Stolen Property Enforcement and Recovery Unit, Violent Crime Task</u>

<u>Force, the Targeted Crimes Unit, the Patrol Anti-Crime Team</u>, the Neighborhood Resource Officer Unit, and the Traffic Unit will be expected to temporarily flex their schedules.

With forty-eight (48) hours notice employees assigned to the <u>Stolen Property Enforcement and Recovery UnitChronic Offender Unit</u>, <u>and Special Investigative Unit and the Targeted Crimes Unit</u> may be required to temporarily adjust their work shift by up to four (4) hours.

With seven (7) calendar days notice, employees assigned to the Violent Crime Task ForcePatrol Anti-Crime Team, the as Neighborhood Resource Officers Unit, and the Traffic Unit, and the Support Services Division may be required totemporarily adjust their work shift by up to four (4) hours. Mandatory schedule adjustments shall not exceedfour (4) adjustments within a calendar month. If the required notification is not given as stated above all work done outside of the regularly scheduled shift will be compensated and one and one-half (1 1/2) times the regular hourly rate of pay.

<u>Availability of Special Overtime Assignments</u> – Guild members may volunteer for an overtime assignment on their regularly scheduled days off, or outside their regularly scheduled shift consistent with the collective bargaining agreement.

Subject to this article and mutual agreement of the parties, Guild members who wish to volunteer for an overtime assignment that overlaps with their regularlyscheduled hours of work may do so only under the Spokane Police Guild Agreement

<del>2017-2021</del>2023-2026

#### following conditions:

Subject to this article and mutual agreement of the parties, Guild members may flex their work hoursto avoid an overlap between their hours of work and the voluntary overtime assignment or shift trade; or

Shift Trading - Guild members may request the ability to switch a regularly scheduled work shift for a regularlyscheduled day off. Both shifts must be within the same calendar pay period, and for a sister patrol team (if the Guild member is in patrol) during the same work hours as the Guild member's regularly scheduled workhours. All such trade requests must be pre-approved by the Guild member's sergeant, the sergeant supervising the sister patrol team involved in the trade, and the Guild member's lieutenant. The respectiveteam sergeants and lieutenant may approve/deny requests based upon various operational factors, including the following: appropriate staffing levels, efficient use of department resources, and Guild members' fatigue. The lieutenant may approve a different make-up day than requested if it is in the best interest of the Department. Trade requests will not be approved if they result in additional overtime. Once approved, the make-up day will be considered the Guild members' regularly scheduled duty day for all purposes. Approval for trade requests may be cancelled due to an emergency. If a conflict develops between Guild members on the same team who have requested to switch shifts for same overtime opportunity, department seniority shall prevail.

<u>Mutual Schedule Adjustment</u> – An employee or the Employer may request a temporary schedule adjustment. Upon request a work shift may start by up to four (4) hours earlier or four (4) hours later than normally scheduled. The request may be initiated by either the employee or the Employer and must be mutually agreed upon.

<u>Unscheduled Overtime</u> - When employees are required to return to work outside their normal duty hours and a minimum of 48 hours notice is not given, they will receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay at one and one-half times the employee's regular rate of pay. For those hours worked over four (4), they would be paid at the employee's time and one-half (1 1/2) rate until the overtime overlaps the employee's regular work shift. This section shall not apply to shift extensions at the end of the work shift.

**Exception** - If an employee is required to return to duty to complete work which is incomplete through the fault of the officer--necessary reports, citations, affidavits, etc.--no call back will be paid. Overtime at one and one-half times the employee's regular rate of pay will be paid for actual hours worked.

# **Section B - Overtime Rate**

All overtime, other than call-back time, mandatory bar patrol, and nine named special events, shall be compensated at the rate of one and one half (1 ½) times the regular hourly rate of pay.

Effective upon ratification and forward, Employees working overtime on the following nine (9) named special events shall receive double the employee's regular rate of pay for actual hours worked.

- a. St. Patrick's Day
- b. Bloomsday
- c. Hoopfest
- d. Lilac
- e. Junior Lilac
- f. Pride
- g. Pig Out in the Park
- h. Boulevard Race
- i. Holiday Lilac

The nine (9) special events shall be identified each year at the time blackout dates are announced by the Department. Employees regularly scheduled to work on such dates shall not receive double time.

Should Bar Patrol Drafting (Mandatory Overtime) occur in the future, Employees who are mandated to conduct mandatory overtime coverage for bar patrol shall receive double the employee's regular rate of pay for actual hours worked. Such double time for bar patrol shall expire December 31, 2026 and be subject to renegotiation based on staffing and need.

# Section C - Compensatory Time Off

At the employee's request, and with the approval of the Chief of Police, a renewable bank of up to 80 120 hours of compensatory time off may be accumulated at the rate of time and one half for all overtime hoursworked. Accrual over 80-120 hours will be paid as overtime. Employees shall be allowed to carry over their compensatory time off into the following year. On November 1st of each year employees may elect to cashout up to a maximum of ninety-six (96) hours of accrued compensatory time, floating holiday, and or vacation time. The City will pay for the cashed out time at the officer's straight time regular rate of pay, and shall make the payment with the second payment of November. All compensatory time in excess of eighty (80) forty (40) hours accrual must be cashed out annually first. Compensatory time cashed out will not count against the ninety-six (96) hours of elected cash-out of vacation and or floating holiday. Either party may reopen the compensatory time provisions of this Agreement if there is a change in legal interpretation of the FLSA related to the accrual or use of compensatory time. Anysuch reopening shall proceed in accordance with Article 18.

In regulating the use of comp time, supervisors will use the following guidelines, which have been agreed by the parties in order to ensure compliance with the FLSA. The parties therefore agree it is unduly disruptive to the operation of the police department if employees:

- 1. give less than five days written notice of their desire to use compensatory time off, provided that less notice may be given with the mutual agreement of the employee and their supervisor;
- 2. request the use of compensatory time on any recognized holiday as set forth in this bargaining agreement or on Christmas Eve or New Years Eve, when the granting of such time off would require the City to bring in another employee to cover the shift; or
- request the use of compensatory time during any special event (Bloomsday, Lilac
   Parade, Neighbor days, etc)

The above list is not intended to be all inclusive of situations that are unduly disruptive, but rather is intended to give the parties guidance concerning the unduly disruptive provisions of the FLSA.

# Section D - On Call

Any employee required by a supervisor to remain on-call for a weekend or fixed period of time shall be compensated at the following rate:

- 1. 1.5 hours of pay at the regular rate of pay for each 8 hours that the employee is required to remain on call.
- 2. 2.5 hours of pay at the regular rate for each 8 hours that the employee is required to remain on-call during any holiday.
- 3. If unscheduled call-out occurs during any 8-hour period that the employee is required to remain on-call, the unscheduled overtime provisions of Article 9 shall apply in addition to the on-call pay for that period of time.

# **ARTICLE 10 - CONTRACT PERSONNEL**

# Section A - Other Law Enforcement Agencies

The City and the Guild mutually agree that circumstances arise from time to time that call for the presence of more law enforcement personnel that are regularly on duty at that time. In order to meet the law enforcement needs of these circumstances, the City and the Guild agree that the City has the right to contract with other law enforcement agencies to supply law enforcement personnel and equipment.

In the event the City elects to so contract with other law enforcement agencies and sufficient time exists for proper planning, the City will first allow Guild members, not on regular duty during the time of need, to volunteer for the assignment. If the need is not filled by the volunteers, then the City may elect to implement contracts with other law enforcement agencies.

In an emergency or in the event the need for personnel is not filled by volunteers from the Guild, it is understood the City retains the right to require Guild members to report for duty under the terms and conditions of the general contract between the City and the Spokane Guild as amended.

State law (e.g. 10.93 RCW, Mutual Aid Peace Officers Powers) and provisions of the individual contracts with agencies supplying personnel shall govern the relationship between the City of Spokane, those

agencies, and their personnel. No rights, duties, or provisions of the contract between the Guild and the City shall apply to those agencies.

# Section B - Park Rangers

The City may issue a limited commission to and assign non-bargaining unit employees employed by the City as Park Rangers the authority to investigate and issue civil infractions and criminal citations to individuals believed to be in violation of only the following crimes and infractions listed in the Spokane Municipal Code, within a City Park:

Public Parks - Prohibited Acts	Infraction	10.10.040
Littering \$113 \$1035 Lit Material [Cigarettes]	Infraction	10.08.010
Open/Consume Alcohol In A Public Place	Infraction	10.08.200
Open Possession/Consumption of Marijuana	Infraction	10.15.220
No Helmet Law - Non-Motorized	Infraction	10.17.030
Liquor In A Public Park	Misdemeanor	10.10.040
Second Degree Criminal Trespass	Misdemeanor	10.12.050
Third Degree Malicious Mischief	Misdemeanor	10.12.025
Lewd Conduct	Misdemeanor	10.06.020
Urinating in Public	Misdemeanor	10.06.015
Disorderly Conduct	Misdemeanor	10.10.020
Graffiti Vandalism	Misdemeanor	10.10.070
Third Degree Theft	Misdemeanor	10.05.100
Making a False Statement to a Public Servant; False	Misdemeanor	10.07.020A
Reporting		
Disorderly Conduct	Misdemeanor	10.10.020
Minor in Possession of Alcohol (MIP)	Misdemeanor	10.08.210A1
Unauthorized Camping on Public Property	Misdemeanor	12.02.1010
Injury to Tree on Public Property	Infraction	12.02.1004
Unlawful Burning on Public Property	Infraction	12.02.1006
Unlawful Disposal of Litter on Public Property	Infraction	12.02.1008

Park Ranger's shall request the assistance of the Spokane Police Department anytime they encounter an enforcement situation where they anticipate resistance or for violations that are outside of their limited commission to investigate and issue civil infractions and criminal citations to individuals believed to be in violation of the crimes and infractions listed in paragraph 1 above, within a City Park.

The City will not make reference to the transfer of bargaining unit work to non-bargaining unit City employees in any proceeding between the parties, including any interest arbitration proceeding, any PERC

proceeding or any litigation, except that the City may make reference to the transfer of bargaining unit work to non-bargaining unit City employees in a proceeding to enforce the terms of Art. 10, Section B.

# **ARTICLE 11 – WAGES**

Upon approval by the Guild and the City Council of the tentative agreement agreed upon by the Guild Negotiating Committee and the City Negotiating Committee, the agreement shall be made a part of the City Employees Pay Plan and administered in accordance with the City Employees Pay Plan Rules.

Effective January 1, 20172023, wages of all classifications covered by the Guild will be increased by 5%. Such wage increase(s) shall be retroactive to January 1, 2017-2023 for all individuals who worked any time after January 1, 20172023, for all time worked.

Effective January 1, 2018,2024 wages of all classifications covered by the Guild will be increased by 7%. Such wage increase shall be retroactive to January 1, 2018 for all individuals who worked any time after January 1, 2018 for all time worked.

Effective January 1, 20192025, wages of all classifications covered by the Guild will be increased by 7%%. Such wage increase shall be retroactive to January 1, 2019 for all individuals who worked any time after January 1, 2019 for all time worked.

Effective January 1, 2026, wages of all classifications covered by the Guild will be increased by 100% of the CPI-W for Seattle Bellevue Tacoma released in June 2025, with a minimum of 3.5% and a maximum of 7%.

Effective January 1, 2020, wages of all classifications covered by the Guild will be increased by 3%. Such wage increase shall be retroactive to January 1, 2020 for all individuals who worked any time after January 1, 2020, for all time worked.

Effective January 1, 2021, wages of all classifications covered by the Guild will be increased by 2.5%. Such wage increase shall be retroactive to January 1, 2021 for all individuals who worked any time after January 1, 2021, for all time worked.

## **Service Advancement**

All police officers with five (5) or more years of service as commissioned officers in the department Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-20212023-2026 will be moved to 902 – Senior Police Officer, Range 29 at their respective longevity levels. This movement will be described as a "Service Advancement" and will be on a qualifying basis with no probationary period.

Henceforth, when a police officer reaches five (5) years of commissioned service with the department, they will be entitled to advance to Senior Police Officer at the beginning of the next quarter.

When they reach five (5) years longevity as a police officer, they will have their normal longevity increase during the affected pay period. At the beginning of the next quarter, they will advance to Senior Police Officer. In the interim, they will be paid out of grade at the Senior Police Officer pay range, five (5) year longevity level.

Lateral police officers will advance at a different rate than entry-level police officers. No later than completion of three (3) years of service in the department, their Service Advancement will occur. They will advance to Senior Police Officer at the entry level of Range 29 at the beginning of the next quarter, being paid out of grade until the paperwork is completed. They will remain at the entry level until they have completed five (5) years longevity in the department. At that time, they will progress through the normal longevity increase process in the Senior Police Officer pay range.

The quarterly changes are to be initiated by the department who will be keeping track of the next group of employees eligible for the Service Advancement. The parties will work with the Spokane Civil Service Commission to ensure a smooth transition.

# **Acting Sergeant**

Patrol Corporals when filling a vacant Sergeant position for four (4) hours or more shall receive an additional three (3%) percent of Corporal base pay for that shift.

# **Specialty Pay**

When assigned, employees will be paid the following monthly pay in addition to their normal compensation based on the top step of the officers pay:

Hostage Negotiator	3%
S.W.A.T Team	3%
K-9 Handlers	3%
Field Training Officers	3%

Motorcycle Officer	3%
Tactical Team Bomb Squad	3% 6%
Major Crime Detective	<del>2</del> 4%
Dignitary Protection	2%
Special Events Supervisor and Coordinator	3%
Assistant Range Master	3% (if a rank below Sergeant is assigned)
Bilingual	2%

The City recognizes the benefits of having employees who can act as foreign language interpreters.

The languages eligible for bilingual pay and the language proficiency standards necessary to receive the pay shall initially be set by the City.

An additional \$30.0090.00 per month will be paid if an officer is assigned to a second specialty; providedhowever that an additional 3% will be paid to an FTO if the FTO is assigned to a second specialty. The Chiefof Police must approve any multiple specialty assignment. Any overtime required to complete the duties associated with being a FTO will be pre-authorized by the Sergeant in charge of the FTO and paid in accordwith contract provisions.

# Longevity

Years of Service	<u>Percent</u>
After 5 Years	2%
After 10 Years	4%
After 15 Years	6%
After 20 Years	8%
After 25 Years	10%
After 30 Years	12% (effective January 1, 2015)

For purposes of determining years of service for vacation accruals and longevity only, all years of full-time law enforcement service, under a State certification recognized by the Washington State Criminal Justice Training Commission, shall apply This change in application will apply prospectively, upon ratification, for all current and future employees.

Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017–20212023-2026

# Education

Effective May 1, 2014, any employee who has earned a degree shall receive additional compensation as follows:

<del>Degree</del>	Percent Percent
AA or AS	.5%
BA or BS	1%

Effective January 1, 20232015, any employee who has earned a degree shall receive additionalcompensation as follows:

<u>Degree</u>	<u>Percent</u>
AA or AS	1 <u>.5</u> %
BA or BS	<del>2</del> 3.5%

Effective January 1, 2024, any employee who has earned a degree shall receive additional compensation as follows:

Degree	Percent	
AA or AS	2%	
BA or BS	4%	

Effective January 1, 2025, any employee who has earned a degree shall receive additional compensation as follows:

Degree	Percent		
AA or AS	2.5%		
BA or BS	4.5%		

<u>Effective December 31, 2026, any employee who has earned a degree shall receive additional compensation as follows:</u>

Degree	Percent		
AA or AS	3%		
BA or BS	5%		

# **Shift Premium**

When a member is assigned a shift, the City agrees to pay the following monthly amounts based on the top step of the Senior Police Officer:

Second Shift 0.75%

Third Shift 1.5%

Fourth Shift 23.25%

# **Extra Duty Wages**

Extra duty employment is defined as work that is voluntarily performed for a separate and independent employer from the City. Extra duty pay and procedures shall be subject to renegotiation between the parties and recorded in a Memorandum of Understanding. The parties agree to meet during the month of July each year of the life of this agreement to determine the wages for extra duty employment for the following year.

# **Basic Law Enforcement Training (BLET)**

- A. Members instructing at the BLET and Reserve BLET sessions will be paid the then current hourly rate for instructors at the Burien, Washington WSCJTA.
- B. Members who instruct during BLET sessions will be given first consideration for other instruction opportunities sponsored by the department. Instruction outside BLET sessions will follow current contract provisions with the overtime rate applying when applicable. BLET instructors gain more experience in classroom settings and will therefore be in higher demand as instructors in other than BLET training sponsored by the department.

For purposes of pay rates, FLSA requires that any member who works over 171 hours in a 28 day work period will be paid at their regular rate at time and one half for each hour over the 171 hour threshold. These are for hours worked not hours paid (physically on duty, not including discretionary paid time off). The current 10/40 patrol schedule has established 13 individual 28 day work periods in each calendar year that can be used to identify any work period under consideration.

# **ARTICLE 12 – VACATION**

Vacation shall accrue on a bi-weekly basis as follows:

Years of Service	Bi-Weekly	<b>Hours of Vacation</b>
At the beginning of the 1st year through completion of the 4th year	5.69 hours	148 hours
At the beginning of the 5 <sup>th</sup> year through completion of the 10 <sup>th</sup> year	7.23 hours	188 hours
At the beginning of the 11 <sup>th</sup> year through completion of the 17 <sup>th</sup> year	8.76 hours	228 hours
At the beginning of the 18th year and over	10.30 hours	268 hours

For purposes of determining years of service for vacation accruals and longevity only, all years of full-time law enforcement service, under a State certification recognized by the Washington State Criminal Justice Training Commission, shall apply This change in application will apply prospectively, upon ratification, for all current and future employees.

On December 31 of any year, the City may reduce the above-referenced accrual rates to their 2010 levels by permanently increasing all pay steps by 2.5% across the board.

Maximum accrual will not exceed two times the annual allowance plus forty (40) hours. Maximum vacation cash-out at retirement is the same as the maximum accrual. Annual vacation bids will be granted on the basis of department seniority, within work unit/team.

With the approval of their supervisor, and after completion of six (6) months of service employees may use vacation up to and including the amount accrued. Employees will be allowed to take vacation in hourly increments.

An employee shall not be credited with any vacation leave in a particular pay period unless that employee has been in a paid status for eighty percent (80%) or more of the hours in that pay period.

For the purposes of application, maximum accrual and maximum carryover are interchangeable terms.

If the Employer cancels vacation once vacation has been approved and the affected employee has incurred non-refundable expenses in planning for the same, the employee shall be reimbursed by the City for those expenses. Any employee called back to duty by the City for any reason once the vacation has begun shall be reimbursed for required round trip transportation costs involved in returning for duty if the employee is out of the area.

# **ARTICLE 13 – UNIFORMS**

New hires will be furnished with uniforms as provided below. Existing employees shall have their uniform and equipment allotment maintained in accordance with this list. Said uniforms shall remain the property of the City. The City reserves the right to make changes in the color, material, and quality of the uniforms it provides, provided that it issues the full complement of uniform items enumerated below.

The City shall provide contract uniform cleaning, on the basis of a maximum of eight (8) items per two calendar week period (non-cumulative) per officer; provided that jumpsuits are to be laundered at home by the employee and not submitted for cleaning at City expense. Motorcycle Officers shall, during the months of May through September, be entitled to have ten items cleaned during a two calendar week period (non-cumulative) per officer. Plain-clothes employees may substitute eight items of business attire in lieu of uniform items. Business dress attire may include dress shirts/blouses, slacks, sport coats, suits, ties, dresses and/or skirts. Additional items in excess of the eight (8) items per two calendar week per officer will be at the expense of the individual. Casual sports wear such as polo shirts and cotton twill pants are not covered under this agreement.

Necessary equipment for uniforms The following items shall be provided by the Department to all new hires and/or replaced to all sworn personnel should the item be deemed by the employee's supervisor to no longer be in a serviceable condition. A list of such equipment shall be set forth in Department policy.

3 pairs of trousers (1 pair for det. & special units)

3 winter shirts (1 winter shirt for det. & special units)2

winter jumpsuits

Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-2021-2023-2026

3 summer shirts (1 summer shirt for det. & special units)

2 summer jumpsuits

3 white shirts if required (motors, bike unit, etc.)

1 Uniform Tie

1 water resistant coat

1 badge

1 service weapon with 3 magazines

1 duty belt with 4 keepers

1 holster

1 set of handcuffs with case and key

1 OC 10 canister and holder

1 approved baton and holder

1 department radio and holder

1 rubber glove holder

1 protective vest

1 flashlight and holder

The City shall continue to provide special items to units with special requirements (motors, bike patrol, detectives, etc.). These special items will remain the property of the City. Probationary officers will receive one (1) uniform (summer/winter) at the time of hire, and two (2) more upon completion of the Academy.

The items listed are the approved quartermaster issue items or replacement items. There are other items that are deemed approved and optional items that the employee is authorized to wear. Refer to applicable department uniform policy.

# **ARTICLE 14 - SPECIAL EQUIPMENT**

The City shall provide motorcycle helmets, handcuffs, leather and all other items that are presently

being furnished. These special items shall remain the property of the City. When the employer mandates a change in equipment, the employer shall provide the initial issue, unless the employee is allowed to continue using the obsolete article until no longer serviceable.

The City may utilize in car and/or body cameras in providing police services to the citizens of Spokane. The parties recognize that there are many working condition issues that will need to be resolved related to utilization of the cameras. Without limitation, these include the extent to which video from the cameras may be used in discipline, and potential limitations on access to and use of the video. The City and Guild agree that these issues will be resolved pursuant to bargaining, consistent with RCW 41.56. The City will comply with the implemented Body Worn Video policy. In the event the parties are unable to reach agreement, either party may require that the parties jointly request theassistance of Mediator Jamie Siegel from the PERC. The City will not utilize videos from the cameras for disciplinary purposes until bargaining has been completed.

Add to BWV policy (NOT IN FINAL CBA): The body worn camera system utilized by the department has the capability to live stream BWC video. Live stream is defined as instances where an individual other than the officer wearing the BWC is able to view in real time the images being captured by the officer's body camera after the officer has activated recording. The livestream video function may be utilized by the department under the following defined circumstances with prior notification: (1) barricaded subjects; (2) protests, riots, or civil disobedience, and (3) SWAT callouts or standoffs. The viewing of live stream video requires authorization by a supervisor of the rank of lieutenant or higher and may only begin after the notification of the officer wearing the camera in the listed circumstances. The purpose of the activation will be limited to situations when viewing the video will provide field supervisors with valuable information to monitor an evolving incident. Additionally, a supervisor, mental health worker, or specialty team member may view live stream video at the request of an officer wearing a BWC. Any significant policy violation noted during a live stream will be addressed at the lowest reasonable level.

# ARTICLE 15 - REPAIR OR REPLACEMENT OF PERSONAL PROPERTY

The City agrees to repair or replace items of personal property damaged or lost while in the line of duty as specified in the guidelines established by the Guild and the City. The specific guidelines established by the Guild and the City to determine claims and the procedure for filing claims shall be posted.

# **ARTICLE 16 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE**

The normal procedure for processing requests for leave of absence shall follow those procedures generally set forth by the Civil Service Rules and Charter of the Civil Service Commission. In addition,

however, the following items are made by a part of the agreement:

# Section A - Family Emergency Leave (LEOFF I and LEOFF II)

- 1. In the event of a serious sickness in the employee's family of any spouse, parent, child, brother, sister, grandparent, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, or grandchild, the employee may on request be granted up to three (3) days leave of absence with full pay to make household adjustments and arrange for medical service. In unusual situations, an LEOFF-I officer may request a short extension of this leave. If any question arises, the President of the Guild and the Chief of Police, or their designee, will negotiate the matter and their decision will be final.
- 2. In the event of a natural disaster, fire, or event creating an emergency beyond the employee's control, the employee may on request be granted up to three (3) days leave of absence with full pay to make household adjustments or to make temporary arrangements to resolve the problem. If any question arises, the President of the Police Guild and the Chief of Police, or their designees, will negotiate the matter and their decision will be final.

# Section B - Family Leave

The Federal Family and Medical Leave Act requires employers to provide up to a total of twelve (12) weeks (480-hours) of unpaid leave during any 12 month period for eligible employees at the time of birth or adoption of a child or at the time of a serious health condition affecting the employee or family member. Additionally, employees shall be allowed to use any accumulated leave to continue pay during a lawful period of family leave.; provided that, no more than 80 hours of sick leave may be used for maternity/paternity leave issues not related to a serious health condition or a period of temporary disability.

If any question arises regarding the interpretation of this article, the President of the Guild and the Chief of Police, or their designees, will negotiate the matter and their decision will be final.

# **Section C-Washington Paid Family Leave**

The Washington State Paid Family and Medical Leave (PFML) law (RCW 50A), establishes a program administered through the Washington Employment Security Department (ESD) to provide paid leave benefits to eligible employees who need leave for certain family and medical reasons. For the period ending December 31, 2022, premiums will total six-tenths of one percent (.6%) of employees' wages (unless Spokane Police Guild Agreement

otherwise adjusted by the State). The City will pay the full cost of the .6 percent of employees' wages retroactive to January 1, 2022. The City will maintain the status quo of paying the total premium set by the State.

# Section D - Funeral Leave (LEOFF I and LEOFF II)

In the event of a death in the family of any employee--spouse, parents, children, brother, sister, grandparents, father-in-law, mother-in-law, brother-in-law, sister-in-law, or grandchildren, the employee mayon request be granted up to three (3) days leave of absence with full pay to make household adjustments or to attend funeral services. If any question arises, the President of the Guild and the Chief of Police, or their designees, will negotiate the matter and their decision will be final.

# Section E - Illness Leave (LEOFF II)

- 1. <u>Accrual</u> Cumulative illness leave with pay shall accrue to each new Police Officer at the rate of six (6) hours for each bi-weekly pay period. An employee shall not be credited with any illness leave in a particular pay period unless that employee has been in a pay status for eighty (80) percent or more of the hours in that pay period. <u>However, lateral officers shall be credited with one hundred</u> and twenty (120) hours of Illness Leave upon their date of hire.
- 2. <u>Use of Illness Leave</u> Illness leave may be used after <u>90 day from the commencement of employment six (6) months of continuous service</u>

by the employee when that employee is incapable of reporting to duty due to an illness or injury to that employee or for any purpose listed under RCW 49.46.210.

- 3. Waiver of Six Months Waiting Period The six months 90 day waiting period may be waived if the employee is hospitalized. An employee shall be required to furnish evidence supporting the need for the use of illness leave when such evidence is requested by the employee's supervisor.
- 4. <u>Duplication of Illness Leave & Industrial Insurance</u> When an employee uses illness leave that is duplicated by Industrial Insurance Compensation, the total amount of compensation paid by Industrial Insurance must be turned in to the Personnel Department. The employee's illness leave account shall then be credited by the amount of compensation returned.
- 5. Sick Leave Buy Back Through February 20, 2014, LEOFF II employees retiring from Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-20212023-2026

service in with at least five (5) years of service with the Spokane Police Department who separate employment from the Spokane Police Department will be allowed to cash in unused sick leave based upon their years of law enforcement service. For purposes of determining years of service for sick leave buy back, all years of full-time law enforcement service, under a State certification recognized by the Washington State Criminal Justice Training Commission, shall apply This change in application will apply prospectively, upon ratification, for all current and future employees.

5 – 14 years of service	40% of all hours up to 960	Max of 384 hours
15-19 years of service	60% of all hours up to 960	Max of 576 hours
20 or more years of service	80% of all hours up to 960	Max of 768 hours

This change in application will apply prospectively, upon ratification, for all current and future employees.

\_If possible, all such amounts will be placed into a tax deferred account. All payout amounts shall be placed in a HRA VEBA account for the individual employee.

6. Sick leave accumulation shall be capped at two thousand and six hundred (2600) hours effective upon ratification. All employees over the cap of two thousand and six hundred (2600) hours at the time of ratification of the agreement shall be legacied from the cap and will retain any previously accumulated hours over the cap, but shall no longer accrue sick leave. Should employees who were legacied subsequently fall below the new cap, the cap will apply.

# Section F - Disability Leave (LEOFF II Officers Only)

When an employee becomes entitled to coverage under RCW 51.32.090 due to a temporary total disability, the City shall compensate the employee for the difference between his Worker's Compensation entitlement and the employee's regular net salary for a period not to exceed six (6) months or the termination of the Workers' Compensation payments, whichever comes first. To accomplish this, the City shall pay the employee his/her regular net salary for said period in lieu of any time-loss payments or disability leave supplement payments to which the employee would otherwise be entitled. In no event will the City pay for

more than a total of six (6) months for any particular temporary total disability. If an employee is returned to work on a conditional basis and the disability reoccurs, any additional payments under this section shall be limited to the remaining, unused portion of the original six (6) months.

## Section G - Application for Leave

Any request for leave of absence shall be submitted in writing by the employee to his immediate supervisor. The request shall state the reason the leave of absence is being requested and the length of time off the employee desires. Authorization of a leave of absence shall be furnished to the employee by his immediate supervisor and it shall be in writing, provided that approval of such authorization shall reside in the Police Chief or designee and the Human Resources Department. Any request for a leave of absence shall be answered promptly. Requests for immediate leave (for example, family sickness or death) shall be answered before the end of the shift on which the request is submitted. Other requests for leave shall be answered within ten (10) days.

### **Section H – Maternity Leave**

Maternity leave is defined as a temporary medical disability due to pregnancy and/or childbirth or complications resulting from childbirth and will be administered in compliance with state and federal laws and regulations for granting maternity leave. An employee who is on an authorized maternity leave shall first use accrued illness leave to maintain paid status while on maternity leave. "Authorized maternity leave" means maternity leave granted pursuant to a medical certification provided by the employee to the office of the Chief of Police.

## Section I - Active Duty Call Up

- 1. Members ordered to active military duty by the President of the United States or the Governor of the State of Washington are entitled to pay and benefits as outlined in Paragraph B and C of this section. This leave is separate from any leave required by State or Federal law for training for any branch of the United States Reserve Forces or the National Guard.
- 2. Commencing on the first day of active duty and ending on the last day of active duty, each member's military pay will be supplemented by an amount necessary to equal what the member's pay would be if they were not on active duty. However, in no event may the combined pay exceed

their regular City pay. All other employee benefits will continue as if the member had not been called to active duty.

3. Whether and to what extent a member called to active duty is covered by City sponsored medical, dental, life and long-term disability insurance is governed by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement and insurance contracts.

### **Section J - Care for Minor Children**

Employees may use accrued leave (vacation, etc.) to care for a minor child under the age of 18 that requires treatment or supervision. Additionally, LEOFF II members may use accrued sick leave in addition to other leaves available to them.

### <u>Limits on Leave for Minor Children</u>

- 1. Sick leave must be previously accrued.
- 2. The leave must be used to care for the employees child under the age of 18; and
- 3. The child must have a health condition that requires treatment or supervision. Employees may be required to provide documentation from a physician that a child has a health condition.
- A LEOFF II officer may use sick leave to stay home and supervise children under the age of 16 if the officer's spouse is so ill that he/she is unable to care for the children. Employees may be required to provide documentation from a physician verifying the spouse's health condition. Since the parties recognize that sick leave abuse is misconduct, the City retains the right to reopen this section if the City perceives an abuse problem.

# **ARTICLE 17 - GENERAL PROVISIONS**

### Section A - Pledge Against Discrimination

The City and the Police Guild are mutually committed to a workplace free from discrimination. Any claim of unlawful discrimination must be processed privately by the employee to the appropriate local, state or federal agency or through the courts and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. Employees believing they may have been discriminated against should comply with City policies concerning the notification to the City. All references to employees in the Agreement designate both sexes and wherever the male gender is used it shall be construed to include male and female employees.

### Section B - Guild Bulletin Board

The City agrees to allow suitable bulletin boards in convenient places in each work area to be used by the Guild. The Guild shall limit its posting of notices and bulletins to such bulletin boards.

### Section C - Guild Activities on City's Time and Premises

The City agrees that during working hours, on the employer's premises, or elsewhere, and without loss of pay, Guild officials shall be allowed to:

- 1. Post Guild notices and distribute Guild literature.
- Attend meetings with the approval of the Police Chief or designee and solicit
   Guild membership without hindering normal operations.
- Transmit communications authorized by the local Guild or its officers to the
   City or its representative.
- 4. Consult with the City, his representative, local Guild officers, or other Guild representatives concerning the enforcement of this Agreement.

## Section D - Guild Business - Paid Leaves

Upon the approval of the Chief of Police and the City Administrator, two (2) Guild officials, and such Guild legislative officials as agreed upon by the Guild, the Chief of Police, and the City Administrator shall be allowed the required time without loss of pay to attend official Guild conferences, Guild legislative

conventions, and state or national conferences, not to exceed five (5) days, each official, for each conference or convention. If any section of this Agreement is determined to be unlawful as a result of a final decision of the Washington courts or is rendered unlawful by an action of the Legislature, either party may reopen that section for renegotiation.

## **Section E - Seniority**

### 1) <u>Definitions</u>

**Department Seniority** - The total length of unbroken service within the Police Department.

<u>Job Classification Seniority</u> - Based on the date of appointment to that classification and shall apply throughout the department.

Non-Supervisory Personnel - All personnel below the rank of Sergeant.

<u>Bureaus</u> - There are two bureaus in the Police Department structure, which are: Operations Bureau and Investigations Bureau

<u>Transfer</u> - The reassignment from one bureau to another.

### 2) Shifts

- a. The Chief of Police retains the exclusive right to determine the starting time of the work shifts and the number of shifts in a work day; provided that in the event the shift starting times are reset during the year by the Chief, sufficient notice will be given to the Guild to allow for a re-bid process as set forth under "Annual Bid for Shift". A re-bid shall not be required for seasonal shift changes of less than two hours. This section shall be interpreted as a waiver of the Guild's right to bargain changes in the starting times of work shifts in accordance with its terms but it shall not be considered a waiver of the Guild's right to require the Employer to bargain over changes in the length of the work shifts. Examples: 5/8, 4/10, 10/40's etc.
- b. Shift assignment within a bureau will be based on job classification seniority; provided, however, if the total police experience level of Police Officers and PFC's/Senior Police Officers on any shift falls below 4.5 years, the Chief of Police shall have the right to assign personnel to raise the level to a minimum of 4.5 years. The experience level shall be determined by adding together the

years of experience (rounded to the nearest year) of Police Officers and PFC's/Senior Police Officers assigned to the shift, divided by the number of Police Officers and PFC's/Senior Police Officers so assigned. Assignment in this case shall first be a call for volunteers. In the event insufficient volunteers come forward, then personnel will be selected starting with the Police Officer or PFC/Senior Police Officer with the least seniority of 4.5 years or over not assigned to the shift needing the higher experience and proceeding upward temporarily until such time as the 4.5 year level is attained.

Probationary officers will not be counted into shift staffing until they have completed at least their ninth (9th) month of service.

c. Each K-9 Officer will work a 4/10 hour work schedule. Each K-9 Officer will check into and out of service at their residence. One and one-half (1 ½) hour each work day will be allowed for maintenance, care, and training. Officers will log on for a minimum of 8.5 hours each workday. When a member is using vacation, compensatory time, floating holidays, or sick leave, and in care of the Department's K-9 it shall be shown as 1.5 hours worked and 8.5 hours of leave. When the K-9 is not in the care of the officer, then use of any type of leave will be shown as 10 hours of leave used.

## Section F - Seniority Lists

Each bureau shall have its seniority lists according to department seniority and job classification seniority. The member with the least department and job classification seniority shall be placed at the bottom of that respective seniority list.

The established seniority lists of the Spokane Police Department shall be brought up to date January 1st of each year, and a copy of this list will be delivered to the Guild ten (10) days prior to the effective date of this contract. Any objection to these lists shall be made during this ten (10) day period to the Executive Board of the Guild.

#### Section G - Annual Bid for Shifts

Prior to the first of each calendar year, in sufficient time for the development of the first mark-up of the year, non-supervisory personnel shall submit in writing to their immediate supervisor a bid for shift

assignment. Shift assignment within a bureau shall be based on job classification seniority; except Police Officer, Police Officer First Class and Senior Police Officer shift assignment will be based on departmental seniority.

1. Patrol Supervisor Shift Assignment - By December 1st of each year, sergeants shall submit to their immediate supervisor a written request for patrol shift assignment for the following year. Seniority shall be given primary but not exclusive consideration in assigning such shifts. The City may make shift assignments without regard to seniority for reasonable cause.

Reassignments shall only be made when a vacancy exists or the City has reasonable cause to make a change. When a vacancy exists and the most senior sergeant's request is unable to be granted, the bureau commander, upon request, shall explain the reasons to the employee concerned in writing.

**Mid-Year Shift Assignment** - When a vacancy within a bureau in a non-supervisory job classification position occurs on a shift during the calendar year, assignment to that shift will be based on job classification seniority. Police Officer, Police Officer First Class and Senior Police Officer shift assignment will be based on departmental seniority.

Vacancy means a position available in the total complement of personnel assigned and not to a particular job assignment. Exceptions may be made for reasonable cause.

Short-term exceptions for extreme hardship, not to exceed sixty (60) days, may be made when mutually agreed upon by the Chief of Police and the Guild President.

#### **Section H - Transfers**

In determining transfers of non-supervisory personnel, seniority shall be the determining factor. Exceptions may be made for reasonable cause.

### Section I - Special Assignments

Management has the right to assign a member to a special assignment without regard to seniority.

Patrol, with the exception of Probationary Officer (newly hired) and front desk are not considered special assignments. Special assignments include the following assignments and any other assignments mutually agreed to in writing:

Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-20212023-2026

#### Probationary Officer (newly hired)

- Special Investigative Unit
- 2. K-9 Officer
- 3. Traffic Unit
- 4. Neighborhood Resource Officer
- 5. Field Training Officer
- 6. Special Weapons & Tactics Officer
- 7. Hostage Negotiator
- 8. Bomb Squad
- Tactical Team
- 10. Dignitary Protection Team
- 11. Assistant Range Master (Current Sergeant FTE will not be eliminated but may be moved to meet department needs)
- 12. Patrol Anti-Crime Team
- 13. Chronic Offender Unit
- 14. Community Outreach
- 15. Domestic Violence Unit
- 16. TARU
- 17. FTO Coordinator
- 18. PIO
- 19. Other assignments as agreed to by the Police Guild President and the Office of the Chief.

For those special assignments where more than one (1) person is assigned and more than one (1) shift is involved, shift assignment will be by seniority as per the annual shift bid process. Any person so attached will not displace any other person regularly assigned to the bureau.

When an employee is assigned or removed from a special assignment, a letter of notice will be sent

from the Unit Commander notifying the employee of their official change of status. This form will serve as formal notice for payroll to begin or suspend specialty pay.

### Section J - VEBA Medical Savings Trust

The City will contribute to the employees' deferred compensation accounts in accordance with specific provisions in Article 23 in lieu of contributing to a VEBA Account.

### **Section K - Duplication of Benefits**

Should Legislature improve or add new benefits to LEOFF II members that duplicate benefits provided by the City, the legislative benefits shall prevail. At such time that this should occur, the City will discontinue the duplicated benefits to the members. Members shall receive the greater of the benefits provided by the City and legislative action but shall not receive benefits from the City that are duplicated by legislative action.

### Section L - LEOFF II Light Duty

If an employee is disabled from performing his/her regular duties, but is released by his/her physician for light duty, the following procedures shall apply;

## Non-duty related temporary disability

- 1. The employee shall provide the Office of the Chief with the physician's release in which the physical limitations of the employee shall be stated.
- 2. When work is available, the Chief of Police shall offer the employee the opportunity to perform work, which is within the employee's ability to perform within the department.
- 3. The light duty assignment shall continue for such period of time as there is a need for the duty or until the employee is released by the physician for full-duty but not to exceed six months (cumulative).
- 4. The Chief of Police shall have the right to have an independent medical examination of the employee conducted to determine the extent of the employee's disability.
- 5. The employee shall suffer no loss of wages or benefits during the light duty assignment. This provision shall apply only to temporarily disabled LEOFF II employees.

6. If any question arises as to the application of this section, the President of the Guild and the Chief of Police, or their designee, will negotiate the matter and their decision will be final

### Duty related temporary disability

This section (L) shall not apply to LEOFF II employees covered by worker compensation. The employer reserves all rights it has under the law to administer such claims, including requiring light duty, consistent with state law. The parties are bound by state, federal and applicable laws/regulations with respect to permanently disabled employees.

# **ARTICLE 18 – SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENTS**

The parties recognize that circumstances change from time to time during the term of labor agreements that give rise to a need discuss changes in hours or working conditions (including the scope of bargaining unit work). In order to provide a convenient forum to discuss these issues, the parties agree to the following procedure.

This Agreement may be amended within the scope of this Article provided both parties concur. Supplemental agreements may be completed through negotiations between the parties at any time during the life of this Agreement. A joint committee comprised of the negotiating teams of the two parties will meet upon the request of either party to discuss proposals related to work hours or changes in working conditions, including the scope of bargaining unit work. Should either party desire to negotiate a matter of this kind, it shall notify the other party in writing of its desire to negotiate. Supplemental agreements thus completed will be signed by the Guild President or designee and the Mayor or designee.

Should either party, having been notified of the proposed supplemental language, not respond by requesting a meeting of the joint committee within thirty (30) days, the proposed language shall be considered acceptable and shall be forwarded to the other party for signature. Supplemental agreements thus completed shall become a part of this Agreement.

The City reserves the right to implement changes that are not mandatory subjects of bargaining, or

those which have otherwise been reserved to the City by the express terms of this Agreement.

## **ARTICLE 19 - SAVING CLAUSE**

If any section of this Agreement is declared invalid or unconstitutional for any reason, such declaration of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the other sections or portions thereof which shall be valid.

## **ARTICLE 20 - JURY DUTY**

City Employees shall be encouraged to serve jury duty at times when they are called. Employees so called and asked to serve during working hours will suffer no loss of pay. Employees called during the working day, or excused during the day, shall report immediately by phone to the shift supervisor for instructions as to whether to report for work during the remainder of the work date.

# <u>ARTICLE 21 – MISCELLANEOUS</u>

### **Section A - Negotiations**

Police Guild members selected to negotiate with the City shall be paid for their time during negotiations if those meetings are held during the regular scheduled duty hours.

### Section B - Mileage Allowance

The City agrees to pay the rate established by City policy to all Guild employees who use their personal vehicles to conduct approved City business.

### <u>Section C - Tuition Reimbursement</u>

The City agrees to reimburse the employee for 100 percent of the tuition fee for any approved job related course upon satisfactory completion of the said course up to the applicable tuition level established at Washington State University. In order to qualify for tuition reimbursement, the course must be approved by the Police Chief or designee and the Human Resources Department before the course is taken. The cost for

books, laboratory and other related expenses shall not be paid by the City. Satisfactory completion of any course shall mean a grade of "C" or better.

For all courses that are approved for reimbursement after February 21, 2014, the employee must refund the City for tuition reimbursement under the following circumstances:

- 1. The employee voluntarily leaves City employment within two years after receiving tuition reimbursement; and
- 2. The course(s) for which the City reimbursed tuition was completed during the two years prior to the effective date of the voluntary separation. The course(s) shall be considered completed on the date the employee submitted his or her grade to the City for purposes of demonstrating satisfactory completion.

There shall be an exception to this requirement in the event extenuating circumstances require the employee to terminate employment with the City (e.g., employee quits in order to move and take care of sick parent). The employee's requests shall be reviewed for approval by the Police Chief or designee and the Human Resources Department and such approval shall not be unreasonably denied.

#### **Section D - Joint Committee**

The Chief of Police (or designee) and the President of the Guild (or designee) will meet for the purpose of developing recommendations for the Civil Service Commission concerning the sources, structure, and general components of promotional examinations within the bargaining unit. In the event that the joint recommendations are rejected by the Civil Service Commission, either party may reopen this section of the Agreement for the limited purpose of negotiating the possible implementation of the recommended changes in the promotional process.

#### Section E - SWAT Team

4. Each SWAT team member will receive two hours per week during duty hours for physical fitness training. The training will occur at the beginning or end of a work shift and must be done at the Public Safety Building the assigned facility or job location. Training time will be pre-approved by the member's unit supervisor. SWAT team members will submit a signature card to the unit

supervisor for approval. The unit

supervisor will forward the signature card to the SWAT Training Coordinator and it will be entered into a training log. The training log will be submitted quarterly to the Office of the Chief.

- 2.1. The training time will be scheduled by mutual agreement between the officer and their supervisor. The training may be denied where shift staffing levels or work of the department so requires.
- 3.2. Training time may not be carried over if not used during a given week.
- 4.3. No overtime will be permitted to complete shift or assigned duties, or for working out if the officer continues to work out following the end of their shift. All other time that an officer may spend working out (unless specifically ordered to work out by the responsible supervisor), including time immediately before or after their shift, is not compensable.
- 5.4. Officers will be subject to call at all times while they are being compensated for working out (physical fitness training).
- 6.5. The Guild and the City agree that they will work together to minimize the operational impact on the department of the physical fitness release time.
- 7.6. The parties recognize the importance of having some balance in shift assignments for SWAT team members. Should the shift selection process result in an imbalance, the City may reassign SWAT team members, by seniority, to restore such balance.

## Section F - On Duty Physical Fitness Training

1. Each employee assigned to uniformed field assignment may use two hours per week day during duty hours for physical fitness training. The training will occur at the beginning or end of a work shift and must be done at the Public Safety Buildingthe assigned facility or job location. Employees assigned to all other assignments will be allowed to convert lunch breaks (30 minutes) and the two daily rest periods (15 minutes each) for physical training. Detectives only may leave the Public Safety Buildingassigned facility or job location to jog as long as they carrytheir pagers or cell phones for emergency contact.

- 2. The training time will be scheduled by mutual agreement between the employee and their supervisor. The training may be denied where shift staffing levels or work of the department so requires, however, reasonable requests for physical fitness training shall not be denied.
- 3. Training time may not be carried over if not used during a given week.
- 4. No overtime will be permitted to complete shift or assigned duties or for working out if the employee continues to work out following the end of their shift. All other times that an employee may spend working out, including time immediately before or after their shift, is not compensable.
- 5. Employees will be subject to call at all times while they are being compensated for working out (physical fitness training).
- 6. The Guild and the City agree that they will work together to minimize the operational impact on the department of the physical fitness release time.

### Section G - Leave Sharing

Occasionally Guild employees suffer from a severe or extraordinary illness or sustain an injury, or have an immediate family member suffering from a severe or extraordinary illness or injury and exhaust their leave balances. Often co-workers who have substantial leave balances wish to donate some of their leave to those employees. Leave sharing is the mechanism to accommodate both groups.

This agreement will permit employees of the Police Guild to donate vacation time, illness leave and/or compensatory time to a co-worker, who is suffering from, or has an immediate family member suffering from, a severe or extraordinary non-job-related illness, injury, or other impairment, is out of vacation time, illness leave, compensatory time, floating holidays, and personal leave (if applicable) and who will imminently go on leave without pay or terminate City employment.

- 1. Eligibility to Receive Shared Leave
  - a. The employee must not be receiving time-loss payments as a result of an on-the-job injury or illness.
  - The employee's position must be one in which vacation and illness leave can be accrued and used.

- c. All Police Guild employees may receive leave under this program if the employee suffers from a severe or extraordinary non-job-related illness, injury, or impairment which has caused, or is likely to cause, the employee to go on leave without pay or which may cause the employee to be terminated from City employment.
- d. An employee may also receive leave under this program if an immediate family member of the employee suffers from a severe or extraordinary illness or injury.
- e. Requests to receive the leave-sharing benefit shall be submitted to a committee composed of one person from Human Resources, one person from the Police Department and one person representing the Police Guild. The decision of the committee shall be final; however, if the decision of the committee is to deny the request, the requester has the right to petition the committee for reconsideration. The decision of the committee shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- f. An employee must have exhausted his/her illness leave, vacation time, compensatory time, floating holidays, and personal leave (if applicable) before receiving shared leave.
- g. An employee receiving the leave sharing benefit must have abided by the City's policies respecting illness leave. It is the responsibility of the supervisor to ensure that the employee has not abused illness leave before submitting the request.
- h. For the purpose of this policy, immediate family is defined as spouse, child, parents, or other more distant relative living in the home of the employee.

#### 2. Lifetime Maximums

- a. Employees receiving the leave-sharing benefit shall receive not more than a total of one hundred and twenty (120) days (960 hours) of such leave every ten (10) years of his/her employment with the City of Spokane, provided, however, the received leave after the first one hundred and twenty (120) days may only be direct donations of accrued leave from other Guild members.
- b. The employee's position must be one in which vacation and illness leave can be accrued and used.

c. The employee must not be receiving time-loss payments as a result of an on-the-job injury or illness.

#### 3. Leave Transference Process

- a. An employee wishing to receive shared leave shall submit a written request to the Human Resources Director and attach a detailed statement from his/her physician verifying the severe or extraordinary nature of the condition and expected duration of time off from work. A Guild representative or other person may submit the request on behalf of the employee.
- b. After receiving the request, a committee composed of one person from Human Resources, one person from the department and one person from the Police Guild will review the request and if approved, the Human Resources Department will notify the Police Chief, or designee, who will communicate the employee's eligibility for leave-sharing to the other employees in the department.
- c. If the employee does not supply adequate documentation from his/her physician, the Human Resources Department will contact the employee or Guild representative and require additional information be supplied. A decision will not be rendered until adequate documentation is supplied.
- d. The decision of the committee shall be final; however, if the decision of the committee is to deny the request, the requester has the right to petition the committee for reconsideration. The decision of the committee shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.
- e. There shall be no retroactive applications of donated leave.

### 4. Donating Leave

- a. Guild members wishing to donate leave shall send the Leave-Sharing Donation form to the Payroll Division for processing.
- b. All donated leave shall be in full days. A day shall be considered eight (8) hours regardless of whether the employee is on a flex schedule or compressed workweek. No differentiation will be made between the salary level of the donor and the recipient.

- c. An employee may donate a total of ten (10) days of vacation time, illness leave, or compensatory time, or any combination that does not exceed ten (10) days, in any calendar year. All donations shall be entered as illness leave in the recipient's account.
- d. Donations of vacation time or illness leave may not bring the donor's balances below thirteen(13) days each.
- e. All donations of leave shall be strictly voluntary and confidential and shall be done on the Leave-Sharing Donation form. The donor shall designate the recipient.
- f. No employee shall be coerced, threatened, intimidated, or financially induced into donating leave.
- g. Once leave has been donated, it becomes the recipient's leave regardless of any changes in his/her employment status, subject to the maximum stated in section 5(d) below.
- h. If the employee receiving the leave sharing donations passes away before using all donated hours, the employee's beneficiary will receive a maximum payout of up to ten (10) days in accordance with the City policy on payouts. The remaining hours will be deleted from the system.

### 5. Leave-Sharing Bank

- a. The employees of the Police Guild will have access to the leave-sharing bank. All donations shall be made by completing the Leave-Sharing Donation form. All donations will be applied to the recipient's illness leave bank.
- b. Except as provided in section 5(f) below, the total of any one employee's donations to the bank may not exceed ten (10) days in any calendar year. Donating to the bank shall not affect an employee's right to donate up to ten (10) days to an individual(s).
- c. Only employees who have been approved to receive shared leave and who have exhausted their recipient-specific leave may, with the approval of the committee that approved their leave-sharing request, draw leave from the leave sharing bank with up-to-date supporting documentation from

their physician. The amount of leave drawn from the bank shall be the lesser of: (i) the amount

needed to cover the balance of their illness; (ii) the amount needed to make up their lifetime

maximum of one hundred and twenty (120) days; (iii) half the number of days in the leave

sharing bank; or (iv) thirty (30) days.

d. Employees who have been approved to receive shared leave and receive more recipient-specific

leave than they need may keep up to ten (10) days of the excess. Donated leave above ten (10)

excess days shall be transferred to the leave-sharing bank. Employees may not keep any part of

the excess leave that would put them over their one hundred and twenty (120) day lifetime

maximum.

e. Police Guild members who have more than nine hundred and sixty (960) hours of sick leave,

have surplus compensatory time, or have vacation time they are on the verge of forfeiting may

donate their surplus leave to the bank in units of a day.

f. Police Guild employees who terminate with five (5) or more years of service with SPD may

donate all accrued illness leave hours in excess of nine hundred and sixty (960) hours to the leave-

sharing bank. Employees who retire from City employment may donate all accrued illness leave

hours in excess of nine hundred and sixty (960) hours to the leave-sharing bank.

6. Administration

a. The Human Resources Department shall administer the leave-sharing program.

Section H – Swing Shift Parking

Swing shift officers will have twenty spaces provided on or near the Spokane County campus. The

cost of the monthly parking will be the same as the Spokane County parking committee established rate for

parking (currently \$10), using permits issued by the County. Employees using these spots are expected to

comply with the County's requirements, and will be responsible for any tickets or fines. Failure to pay the fee

or otherwise comply may result in loss of the permit.

Section I - City Residency Incentive

In order to incentivize residency of employees to reside within City of Spokane city limits, the City agrees to provide the following to employees providing proof of residency from the effective date of this agreement: (1) a monthly stipend of \$50.

## **Section J- Civilian Roles and Positions**

The parties agree that the City may bring to the Guild during the term of this agreement proposals for potential civilian roles to assist in Departmental operations; any such proposals are subject to RCW 41.56. If the City brings such proposals to the Guild during the term of the agreement the Guild, in addition to any responsive proposals the Guild may bring forth proposals on economics.

## **ARTICLE 22 - SALARY COMPUTATIONS**

### Section A - Regular Hourly Rate

Regular rate of pay shall mean base salary together with any shift differential pay, longevity, specialty pay, educational or other incentive pays.

### **Section B - Pay Periods and Pay Checks**

Pay periods shall be established on a bi-weekly basis. Employee payPay checks shall be issued on a bi-weeklybasis on alternate Fridays. Employees who do not work on Friday and those employees working the Thursday evening shift shall have their pay checks distributed, whenever possible, on the Thursday beforepay day.

## **ARTICLE 23 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION**

### Section A - Deferred comp.

The City agrees to make a qualified deferred compensation plan available to Guild represented employees.

The City shall contribute 2.2% of each employee's base pay including longevity and education, regardless of whether that employee makes his/her own contribution. Employees may also make contributions to his or her own account. If an employee makes contributions to his/her account, the City shall make matching contributions of 4% of the employee's base monthly pay including longevity and education, in addition to the 2.2%.

#### Section B – Health reimbursement agreement/account.

In addition to the foregoing, the City will establish and maintain a qualified health reimbursement agreement/account for each Guild represented employee as soon as reasonably possible after ratification of the Agreement. The employer shall contribute one hundred seventy-five dollars (\$175) per month to the employee's qualified, health reimbursement agreement/account. The agreement/account shall be portable after termination and usable in retirement.

#### Section C - VEBA Alternative.

The City will contribute \$50.00 per employee per month to the employee's deferred compensation account without requiring a match in lieu of a VEBA contribution. Upon ratification, the City will contribute \$75.00 per employee per month to the employee' deferred compensation account without requiring a match in lieu of a VEBA contribution until the health reimbursement account referred to in Section B above is established. As soon as the HRA is established and contributions to the HRA begin, the VEBA contribution will cease. At no time will the City be required to contribute both to the HRA and VEBA.

## **ARTICLE 24 – DISCIPLINE**

### Section A - General

Both parties recognize that Police Officers have certain rights and responsibilities. Some of these rights and responsibilities are included in the departmental policy manual, under the title Complaint and Disciplinary Procedures.

Both parties agree that the carrying out of departmental Policy and Procedures is exclusively the province of the Chief of Police.

An employee shall be allowed to inspect his/her personnel file with the exception of materials that are exempt from disclosure pursuant to Washington law and may obtain a copy of such file at any reasonable time. The employee may request removal of material which he/she believes erroneous or irrelevant. This request will be reviewed by the Chief of Police. If the employee does not agree with the Chief's decision, he/she may prepare a statement of dissent which will be placed in the file. Employees may request that Upon employee request, written reprimands shall be expunged from personnel files considered stale (which means that it shall not be used for any employment purpose) after a minimum period of three years if there is no reoccurrence of similar misconduct for which the employee was disciplined during that period. Employees may request that records of Upon employee request, serious discipline shall be expunged from personnel files considered stale after a minimum period of fiveyears if there is no recurrence of similar

misconduct for which the employee was disciplined during that period. Requests for the expungement staleness of disciplinary references in personnel files, pursuant to this section, shall not be unreasonably denied. Nothing in this section shall be construed as requiring the City to destroy, expunge, or purge any employment records where the City is prohibited by law from taking such actions necessary to the City's case if it is engaged in litigation in any way related to that employee's employment at the time those records would otherwise be destroyed.

### **Section B - Forms of Discipline**

The following disciplinary procedures apply to Guild members who are permanent employees, that is, have completed their probationary period. The City will continue to administer disciplinary actions in accordance with the "Just Cause" concept. Disciplinary actions may include, but are not limited to, the following actions: oral reprimand, written reprimand, denial of promotion, demotion, suspension, and discharge for cause.

### Section C - Right of Appeal

Permanent employees (completed probation) shall have the right to take up discipline as a grievance, as set forth in Article 5 or as an appeal through the Civil Service Rules and Regulations, but the employee is limited to one or the other.

### Section D(1) - Probationary Periods

Probationary periods upon initial appointment shall not exceed eighteen (18) months for entry level and twelve (12) months for laterals and may not be extended without the written agreement of the Guild. During an employee's initial probationary period, he/she may be discharged by the employer at-will and such discharge shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. Probationary periods upon promotion shall not exceed six months and shall not be extended without the written agreement of the Guild. During a promotional probationary period, an employee may be reverted to his/her former classification and such reversion shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

### Section D(2) - Right of Petition

Any probationary Guild employee who reverted or discharged pursuant to section D(1) above shall have the opportunity, upon request, for hearing with the Chief of Police or his designated representative. Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-20212023-2026

However, this opportunity shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. The Guild may provide representation at this hearing.

### Section E - Police Officer Rights in Discipline

It is agreed that the Employer has the right to discipline, suspend, or discharge any employee for just cause. The City must meet the just cause requirements for disciplining employees for off-duty conduct. Examples of off-duty conduct that may be subject to discipline include: 1) the off-duty misconduct materially effects the employer's business operation; or 2) the conduct is inconsistent with the office that the police officer holds.

- 1. In an effort to ensure that investigations are conducted in a manner which is conducive to good order and discipline, bargaining unit employees shall be entitled to the following protections which shall hereafter be termed as the "Police Officers' Rights in Discipline". Every employee who becomes the subject of an internal investigation shall be afforded the rights contained in the rest of this Section. This Section shall not apply to routine supervisory inquiries.
- 2. Every employee who becomes the subject of a formal internal investigation shall be advised at the time of their interview that he/she is accused of:
  - a. Committing a criminal offense; and/or
  - b. Conduct that would be grounds for termination, suspension, or other disciplinary actions.
  - c. Of their right to Guild representation
- 3. Any employee who becomes the subject of a criminal investigation shall, prior to their interview, be notified that he/she is the subject of a criminal investigation and, further, that he/she is under no obligation to answer any questions or to remain in an interview setting involuntarily, except as provided herein. So long as the matter remains a criminal investigation, the remainder of this article shall not apply until or unless the Department determines to compel the subject employee toanswer questions. A criminal investigation as used herein shall be interpreted as any investigationwhich could result in the filing of a criminal charge against the officer. In any non-criminal investigation,

the balance of this article shall apply.

4. Any interview shall take place at the Spokane Police Department, except when impractical. The employee shall be advised of his/her right to and allowed that Guild representation to the extent required by law. If the employee is a suspect, they shall be given a general overview of the factual

allegations in writing before the interview commences

5. The interview of any employee shall be at a reasonable hour, when the employee is on duty, unless the exigency of the interview dictates otherwise. If the employee is suspected of misconduct, the interview generally shall be conducted in person, except that for limited follow-up questions orwhere there are other unusual situations, questioning may be telephonic so long as a Guild representative is given the opportunity to participate in the call.

6. The employee or Employer may request that an internal investigation interview be recorded, either mechanically or by a stenographer. There can be no "off the record" questions. Upon request, the employee under internal investigation shall be provided an exact copy of any written statement he/she has signed or of a verbatim transcript of any interview if one is created.

7. Interviewing shall be completed within a reasonable time and, in all internal investigation interviews, the employee shall be afforded such intermissions as he/she shall reasonably request for personal necessities, meals, telephone calls and rest periods.

8. All interviewing shall be limited in scope to activities, circumstances, or events which pertain to an employee's conduct or fitness to hold office.

9. The employee will not be threatened with dismissal or other disciplinary punishment as a guise to attempt to obtain his/her resignation, nor shall he/she be subject to abusive or offensive language or intimidation in any other manner. No promises or rewards shall be made as an inducement for the accused officer to answer questions.

10. No employee shall be required to unwillingly submit to a polygraph test, nor will employees be required to answer questions without a direct order to do so.

11. <u>Internal Investigation Files</u> - Employees and/or their Guild Representative (if representing the employee) shall have access to complete copies of completed Internal Investigation files at any

reasonable time once a Loudermill hearing has been scheduled, or after discipline has been imposed if no Loudermill hearing is held. Internal investigation files that do not result in an adverse finding shall not, in any way, be notated in that employee's personnel file and shall not be considered in determining the level of discipline which is appropriate.

12. Administrative investigations must be completed within 180 days of the matter coming to the attention of the Department (Assistant Chief or above). In the event the Office of the Chief believes an extension beyond 180 days is necessary, and the City can show that it has acted with due diligence and the investigation could not be reasonably be completed due to factors beyond the control of the City (including, but not limited to, for example, extended illness or other unavailability of a critical witness (i.e. - the complainant, the officer being investigated), or necessary delays in the processing of forensic evidence by other agencies) the Chief must contact the Guild prior to the expiration of the 180 days seeking to extend the time period. Any request for extension based on the unavailability of witnesses shall include a showing that the witness is expected to become available in a reasonable period of time. A request for extension based upon the above criteria will not be unreasonably denied. The period of investigation may also be extended by mutual agreement between the Guild President and the Chief.

The 180 day period shall be suspended when a complaint involving alleged criminal conduct is being reviewed by a prosecuting authority or is being prosecuted at the city, state or federal level, or if the alleged conduct occurred in another jurisdiction and is being criminally investigated or prosecuted in that jurisdiction. In cases of an officer involved fatal incident, the 180 day period will commence when the completed criminal file is provided to the Prosecuting Attorney, and will only be tolled in the event criminal charges are filed.

In the event an outside agency conducts a criminal investigation of a matter within the jurisdiction of the City, and the Department receives the completed criminal file with less than sixty (60) days remaining for the administrative investigation, the Department will have up to an additional sixty (60) days to complete its administrative investigation; in no event, shall the investigation last

more than 240 days.

Compliance with this provision is required if findings are to be entered or discipline is to be imposed. Issuance of a Loudermill notice of intent to discipline will constitute conclusion of the administrative investigation for purposes of this section.

Nothing in this article prohibits the City from disciplining (provided just cause exists) an officer convicted of a crime, or laying off an employee pursuant to Civil Service Rule IX, Section 6 (d).

## **ARTICLE 25 - DRUG TESTING**

### Section A

Reporting to work under the influence of alcohol and/or illegal drugs, or the use, sale, or possession by an employee of illegal drugs is strictly prohibited and will result in disciplinary action (unless otherwise required by law), including immediate termination. For the purpose of this policy, substances that require a prescription or other written approval from a licensed physician or dentist for their use shall also be included when used other than as prescribed. Each employee must advise the Employer if they are using prescription or other over-the-counter drugs they know or reasonably should know may impair their ability to perform job functions and/or operate machinery such as automobiles. Under appropriate circumstances the Employer may request the employee provide written medical authorization to perform various essential job functions from a physician while using such drugs.

Any voluntary request by an employee for assistance with his/her own alcohol abuse problem will remain confidential and shall not be used as the basis for any disciplinary action provided that the request for assistance is initiated prior to being identified as impaired through the procedures herein.

The parties recognize the essential purpose of any law enforcement agency is to enforce the criminal laws. Moreover, the parties recognize the courts have held it would substantially impair law enforcement agencies if they were required to employ individuals within their ranks who have violated the very laws said

agencies are charged with enforcing. Therefore, the Employer reserves the right to refuse to employ or continue the employment of individuals who are or have been engaged in serious criminal conduct, whether drug related or not.

#### Section B

Where a supervisory employee of the City has a reasonable suspicion to believe an employee is under the influence of alcohol or illegal drugs or is abusing the use of prescription or over-the-counter drugs, or is using illegal drugs, the employee in question will be ordered to immediately submit to discovery testing. Such tests include breath tests, urinalysis and blood screens to identify any involvement with alcohol or such drugs. An employee who refuses to submit to discovery testing shall be conclusively presumed to be under the influence of alcohol or an illegal drug for the purpose of administering this Article and therefore will be subject to discipline, including immediate discharge.

### Section C

For the purpose of administering this Article the following definition of terms is provided:

- 1. Reasonable Suspicion Reasonable suspicion is based on objective facts and reasonable inferences from those facts, that discovery testing will produce evidence of a violation of this policy.
- 2. <u>Under the Influence</u> In determining whether an employee is under the influence or using illegal drugs, the following cutoff levels shall be used for the initial screening of specimens to determine whether they are negative for these drugs or classes of drugs:

Nanograms per milliliter (ng/ml)

 Test Level

 Amphetamines
 1000

 Barbiturates
 300

 Benzodiazepines
 300

 Cannabinoids
 100

Cocaine metabolites	300
Methadone	300
Methaqualone	300
Opiates (Codeine)	300
Opiates (Morphine)	300
Phencyclidine (PCP)	25
Propoxyphene	300
Level of the positive result for alcohol	0.04 blood alcohol

3. <u>Illegal Drugs</u> - All forms of narcotics, depressants, stimulants, hallucinogens, and cannabis, which sale, purchase, transfer, or unauthorized use or possession is prohibited or

restricted by law.

- 4. <u>Over-the-Counter Drugs</u> Are those drugs which are generally available without a prescription and are limited to those drugs which are capable of impairing the judgment of an employee to safely perform the employee's duties.
- 5. <u>Prescription Drugs</u> All drugs which are used in the course of medical treatment and have been prescribed and authorized for use by a licensed practitioner/physician or dentist.

## Section D

If an employee is required to submit to a drug test, the following procedure shall be followed:

- 1. The employee shall be given notice of an opportunity to confer with a Guild representative if one is readily available.
- 2. The employee shall be given an opportunity to explain the reasons for the employee's condition, such as reaction to a prescribed drug, fatigue, exposure to toxic substances, or any other reasons known to employee, to the test administrator. The Guild representative may be present during this discussion.
- 3. The Employer may request urine and/or blood samples.

4. Urine and blood samples shall be collected at a local laboratory, hospital or medical facility. The Employer shall transport the employee to the collection site. The Employer and/or Guild representative may be allowed to accompany the employee to the collection site and observe the bottling and sealing of the specimen. The employee shall not be observed by the Employer when the urine specimen is given.

5. All specimen containers, vials, and bags used to transport the specimen, shall be sealed to safeguard their integrity, (upon request in the presence of the Employer, employee and Guild representative) and proper chain-of-custody procedures shall be followed.

6. The collection and testing of the samples shall be performed only at Occupational Medicine Associates or at another laboratory mutually agreed to by the parties. The results of such tests shall be made available to the Employer and the Guild.

7. If a specimen tests positive in an immunoassay screen test, the results must be confirmed by a gas chromatography/mass spectrometry tests. The specimen must show positive results at/within the following limits on the GC/MS (gas chromatography/mass spectrometry) confirmatory test to be considered positive.

If immunoassay is specific for free morphine the initial test level is 25 ng/ml.

#### **Confirmatory Test**

Marijuana metabolites 15 ng/ml

Cocaine metabolites 150 ng/ml

Opiates:

Morphine 300 ng/ml

Codeine 300 ng/ml

Phencyclidine 25 ng/ml

Amphetamines:

Amphetamine 500 ng/ml

Methamphetamine 500 ng/ml

- 8. At the employee's or the Guild's option, a sample of the specimen may be requisitioned and sent to a laboratory chosen by the Guild for testing. The cost of this test will be paid by the Guild or the employee. Failure to exercise this option may not be considered as evidence in arbitration or other proceeding concerning the drug test or its consequences. The results of this second test shall be provided to the City.
- 9. The employee (and the Guild, upon approval of the employee) shall be informed of the results of all tests, and provided with all documentation regarding the tests as soon as the test results are available. Such disclosure shall be in conformance with the Americans with Disabilities Act.

#### Section E

The parties shall designate a Medical Review Officer (MRO) to review all confirmed positive test results and communicate those results to the Employer. The MRO shall have the responsibility to determine when an individual has failed a drug test in accordance with the standards enumerated herein. The MRO shall retain all records of all positive tests for at least five years and records of all negative tests for at least one year.

### Section F

If the results of the drug test are positive, and support a conclusion that the employee used an illegal drug, abused the use of a prescription or over-the-counter drug, or reported to work while under the influence of alcohol, the employee will be subject to discipline, including immediate discharge, unless otherwise required by law.

# <u>ARTICLE 26 – HEALTH AND WELFARE</u>

### **Section A - Insurance**

1. <u>Family Dental Insurance</u> - The City agrees to provide the current Premier Dental Insurance plan at no cost to the employee, including orthodontia at a 50% benefit level, through April 30, 2014. Effective May 1,

2014, the City agrees to provide the PPO Dental Insurance plan at no cost to the employee, including orthodontia at a 50% benefit level.

2. <u>Family Medical Insurance (LEOFF I)</u> - The City will pay for employee medical coverage as is required by law and will pay for 90% of dependent coverage and the employee will be responsible for 10% of the dependent premium. Medical plans offered will be City Plan III and Group Health. Prescription drugs under City Plan III shall be subject to the following co-pays: generic medications \$10.00, all other medications \$20.00. Group Health participants shall be required to pay the following co-pays: generic medications \$10.00, all other medications \$30.00. All other medical benefits will be maintained at current levels. The City program for domestic partner benefits is available for bargaining unit employees.

3.2. Family Medical Insurance (LEOFF II) - Police Officers hired after September 30, 1977, and their dependents, shall be covered under a City sponsored plan for non-duty related medical care.

Through April 30, 2014, medical plans offered will be City Plan III and Group Health I, with employees paying \$105/month toward coverage of the employee and his/her dependents in the employee's selected medical plan and the City paying the balance of the monthly premium.

Effective May 1, 2014, medical plan options will be City Plan III, City Plan IV, Group Health I, and Group Health II. Employee contributions for City Plan III and Group Health I will increase by \$15/month to \$120/month. Employee contributions for City Plan IV and Group Health II will be \$105/month.

Effective January 1, 2015, employee contributions for City Plan III and Group Health I will increase by \$15/month to \$135/month. Employee contributions for City Plan IV and Group Health II will remain \$105/month.

Prescription drugs under City Plan III shall be subject to the following co-pays: generic medications \$10.00, all other medications \$20.00. City Plan IV and Group Health participants shall be subject to the following co-pays: generic medications \$10.00, all other medications \$30.00. All other medical benefits will be maintained at current levels. The City program for domestic partner benefits will be made available for bargaining unit employees.

4. Retiree Medical — The Guild has agreed to work with the City on redesigning the current medical plans and creating a Retirees Medical Plan. The Guild has indicated that it would work towards development of a retirees plan similar to the current Plan III with the costs assumed in total by the retiree. The Guild would also like to develop a plan where contributions could be made by existing employees prior to retirement tohelp offset the costs. The Guild has also requested that employees who have retired since January 2002 be allowed to access the retirees plan. The parties have agreed that they will work in concert during 2004 with a goal to implement the plan in 2005. The goal date may be extended by the parties.

Employees (and their dependents) who retire from employment shall be permitted to receive health insurance via the City in retirement through the retiree medical plans offered to other City retirees

### 5.3. Life Insurance

- (a) For Police Officers: The City shall provide \$100,000 life insurance coverage to be paid in full by the City.
- (b) For Dependents: The City shall make a life insurance plan available at the employee's option and expense.
- (c) Bomb Squad and Swat Team Members will be provided 1½ times their annual salary in life insurance coverage to a maximum of \$60,000120,000. K-9 Handlers and Hostage Negotiators will be provided \$50120,000 in life insurance coverage.
- 6.4. Long-Term Disability Insurance The City shall make payroll deduction available for Guild members to purchase the group disability insurance plan, which the Guild sponsors. LEOFF II employees shall be required to purchase this insurance as a condition of employment. The City shall contribute \$30.5045.00per month, as wages, for LEOFF II officers.
- 7. Vision Care The City agrees to provide vision care coverage for LEOFF II employees at the same
   8. level as LEOFF I in a manner determined by the City.
  - 9.5. Health Plan Redesign. The Guild will participate in City Health plan redesign discussions along with other employee groups provided that this section shall not be construed as either a reopener on employee benefits or as evidence that the Guild agrees to change any health care provision of this agreement by their

participation.

9. <u>Employee Physicals</u>. Employee annual physicals shall be covered by the City under the employees selected employee medical plan. The City will no longer cover the costs of the annual physical as reimbursement from Department funds, and all physicals will be submitted and covered through the employee's insurance carrier.

## **ARTICLE 27 - CIVILIAN REVIEW**

The Office of Police Ombudsman (OPO) will provide a professional presence to help ensure a quality investigation in real time, and visible, independent oversight to reassure the public. The City and the Guild acknowledge that on June 16, 2014 with the ratification of the 2012-2016 collective bargaining agreement the parties agreed that the OPO and the Police Ombudsman Commission as set forth in Article 27 complied with and satisfied all of the requirements of the City Charter in effect on March 1, 2013.

- (a) The Office of Police Ombudsman (OPO) means the Ombudsman, Deputy Ombudsman, and all other regular full-time employees and regular part-time employees of the Office of Police Ombudsman who have signed a confidentiality agreement under the terms of this Article and completed CJIS certification.
- (b) "OPO Independent Investigation" (Independent Investigation) means any investigative activity authorized by and conducted in accordance with this Article by the Ombudsman, or Deputy Ombudsman, or third party. Investigative activity may include: interviews of witnesses, review of police reports or other police documents, review of body camera footage, review of IA or criminal investigative transcripts, audio or video recordings, visitation of a location, as provided for in this Article.
- (c) The OPO will be notified of and the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman will have the option of actively monitoring all police department IA investigations as provided for herein.
- (d) The OPO may receive complaints from any complaining party, including, without limitation, citizens or employees of the police department. In instances where the Ombudsman and/or Deputy

  Ombudsman has first hand knowledge, the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman can be the

complainant, but the individual filing the Complaint would be conflicted out of OPO duties for that complaint and firewalled from the investigation,

- (e) Upon receiving a complaint, the OPO will advise the complainant of the options available potential processes to resolve the complaint. These options processes include referral of the complaint to IA with the potential for a disciplinary investigation monitored by the OPO, mediation services, and/or independent investigation by the OPO where authorized by and in accordance with the provisions of this Article.
  - 1. The OPO will only refer complaints to IA for conduct that occurred within one calendar year and will inform the complainant that the OPO cannot guarantee that IA will investigate a complaint or that the OPO has sufficient resources to conduct an independent investigation where authorized by and in accordance with this Article.
- (f) The Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman may conduct a preliminary investigation regarding the complaint for the purpose of determining whether to forward the complaint to IA.
  - 1. The preliminary investigation shall include, as appropriate, interviewing the complainant and interviewing any other person who the complainant asserts was subject to the improper use of force or improper/inappropriate interaction with an officer. If after this interview(s) the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman is unable to determine whether the matter should be forwarded to IA, the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman may conduct such additional interviews as are reasonably necessary to determine whether to forward the case to IA. If a complainant or witness refuses to have his or her their interview recorded, he orshe shall be asked to write out his or her complaint. All interviews will be conducted by the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman. The Office of the Ombudsman may conduct theinitial intake of the complainant. The complainant will be asked to prepare a written statement or taped oral narrative concerning the matter, allowing the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman to subsequently determine whether an actual interview should be conducted. Officers will not be interviewed as part of the preliminary investigation, unless the complainant is an officer. If the complainant is an officer, the OPO may request an interview

from the complainant officer as part of the preliminary investigation.

- 2. The Ombudsman and /or Deputy Ombudsman will promptly be given access to all documentation in possession of the Police Department that is relevant to the stated complaint and necessary for determining whether or not to forward the complaint to IA, including access to Internal Affairs record keeping systems (IA Pro and Blue Team\_or their successor record keeping system) for all information related to the stated complaint. Any and all video that is downloaded and provided to OPO and/or the Police Ombudsman Commission for any purpose authorized by Article 27 shall be uniquely marked by the Police Department, prior to being provided, in order to prevent the copying and/or distribution of such video for a purpose that is not authorized by Article 27. The Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman may assign the retrieval, indexing, and search of such documentation to the OPO.
- (g) If the OPO determines a complaint alleges potentially criminal conduct by an officer, the case shall be immediately forwarded to Internal Affairs.

If the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman determines that the complaint should not be forwarded to IA, the OPO may publish a closing report, which states the allegations of the complaint and the basis for the Ombudsman's or Deputy Ombudsman's determination that the complaint did not need to be forwarded to IA. Neither this closing report nor the preliminary investigation shall be used for discipline or other tangible adverse employment action against a bargaining unit member, including but not limited to decisions regarding defense and indemnification of an officer. The closing report and any part of the preliminary investigation that is released shall not reveal the names of the officers involved. For each complaint where the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman determines that the complaint does not need to be forwarded to IA, the OPO shall forward to IA its determination as well as the name of any complainant and/or witnesses and the details of the alleged complaint. In these instances where the allegations result in a determination that the complaint should not be forwarded to IA, the OPO may refer, via IA, information that the OPO has received to the Department for review so that the Department may determine if there are general service

improvements that could be addressed by the Department. Neither the determination not to forward the complaint to IA nor the preliminary investigation or any referral shall be used for discipline or tangible adverse employment action against a bargaining unit employee, including but not limited to decisions regarding defense and indemnification of an officer. The determination and any part of the preliminary investigation or referral that is released shall not reveal the names of the officers involved.

If the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman determines that the complaint should be forwarded to IA, the OPO will forward the complaint and any preliminary investigation to IA within ten business days of the initial interview or review of the written statement or taped oral narrative concerning the matter, unless the time is extended by mutual agreement of the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman and the Guild, for processing and, when appropriate, investigation. The OPO will not act upon complaints concerning events that occurred more than one year prior to the filing of a complaint, unless such complaint alleges serious misconduct that could result in termination, in which case the OPO will not act upon complaints concerning events that occurred more than five (5) years prior to the filing of a complaint. An extension of the five (5) year limit may occur if there is written agreement from the Guild. The OPO will not conduct separate disciplinary investigations, but the Ombudsman and Deputy Ombudsman may participate in interviews and request that further investigation becompleted, as provided herein and be given access to all documentation in the possession of the Police Department that is relevant to the stated complaint and necessary for determining the internal investigation was timely, thorough and objective, including access to IA Pro and Blue Team for allinformation related to the stated complaint. Any and all video that is downloaded and provided to the OPO and/or the Police Ombudsman Commission for any purpose authorized by Article 27 shall beuniquely marked by the Police Department, prior to being provided, in order to prevent the copyingand/or distribution of such video for a purpose not authorized by Article 27. The Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman may assign the retrieval, indexing, and search of such documentation to the OPO.

(h) In instances where the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman determines that the complaint

should be forwarded to IA, the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman may also send a request that the complaint be considered for an "OPO led" OPO independent investigation ("OLOII"). Prior to the Chief (or designee) making a determination as to whether or not the complaint will be investigated (as set forth in (k)) the Chief (or designee) will review the request for an OLOII and determine if the Department agrees that the complaint is appropriate to be handled as an OLOII. In making the determination that an OLOII is appropriate, the Chief (or designee) shall consider that no discipline may result from an OLOII. An OLOII is an investigation that is conducted by the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman. No discipline of or other tangible adverse employee actions against bargaining unit employees, including but not limited to decisions regarding defense and indemnification of an officer may result from an OLOII.

- In the event the OPO, the Department, and the officer all agree to an OLOII, that process will be utilized rather than sending the matter on for investigation. Once there is agreement that the OLOII process will be utilized, the matter will be concluded through the OLOII process and cannot be investigated elsewhere.
- 2. As part of the OLOII, Article 24 Section E shall apply and employees shall be advised of the nature of the complaint and scope of the investigation. However, consistent with the voluntary nature of this process, employees shall not be compelled to provide a statement.
  Officers will have the right to bring Guild representation to any OPO interview.
- 3. Upon completion of the OLOII, the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman may publish a closing report so long as the closing report does not identify specific members of the Department and does not in any way comment on officer discipline (or lack thereof). The closing report will identify the author(s). There shall only be one closing report for an OLOII. The closing report may include the allegation made in the complaint, a summary of the investigative steps taken by the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman, and any policy or practice recommendations; however, the report will not determine whether there has been a violation of the law or policy or recommended discipline. The closing report of the OLOII also may include the OPO's perspective of the factual information that was obtained as a result of the investigation. Any closing report from an OLOII shall clearly state that the

information expressed within the report is the perspective of the OPO and that the OPO does not speak for the City on the matter, and that the report is not an official determination of what occurred.

4. An OLOII will be completed within 180 days of the beginning of the OLOII.

(h)(i) In addition to complaints received by the OPO, Internal Affairs will provide: (a) access to all complaints received by IA to the OPO, and, (b) notice of criminal investigations of officers that Internal Investigations is aware of within ten business days of receiving the complaint. Once the case is closed, the OPO will return all case file materials to IA for retention and delete all downloaded files, but will have subsequent access to closed cases.

(i)(j) \_\_The OPO\_or IA will have the opportunity to make a recommendation for mediation to the Chief ofPolice, at any time prior to a determination that the investigation was timely, thorough and objective. An involved officer may request that the case be considered for mediation. The OPO retains sole discretion whether or not to offer mediation based on available resources and the goals of theOPO.

- 1. In the event the Department, the complainant and the officer all agree to mediation, that process will be utilized rather than sending the matter on for investigation. Unless agreed upon by the participants (the Department, complaint, officer and mediator), the provisions of RCW 7.07 shall be applicable to a mediation conducted under this Article and all evidence, statements, communications or agreements made in mediation shall be confidential and may not be used by the City or any other party in any criminal or disciplinary process against any member bargaining unit employee or in promotional consideration or as the basis as any otheradverse employment action. The OPO may publish a closing report at the end of any mediation services. In order to comply with the confidential nature of mediation, an OPO closing report of mediation services shall only state whether the officer participated in good faith and if the matter was resolved. Identification of the names of participants will not be included in any OPO closing report of mediation services.
- Assuming the officer participates in good faith during the mediation process, the officer will not be subject to discipline and no disciplinary finding will be entered against the Guild Agreement

officer. Good faith means that the officer listens and considers the issues raised by the complainant, and acts and responds appropriately. Agreement with either the complainant or the mediator is not a requirement of good faith. In the event an agreement to mediate is reached and the complainant thereafter refuses to participate, the officer will be considered to have participated in good faith.

from the OPO), it shall be submitted to the chain of command for review per existing policy. The Chief or her/his-their designee will determine whether or not the complaint will be investigated, and if it will be investigated, what type of investigation including an IA Investigation, an Inquiry, a Shift Level investigation, or other type of investigation. IA will notify the OPO in writing of the determination as to whether or not the complaint will be investigated by the Department; the notification shall state either no investigation or the type of investigation that will be used for the investigation. When the OPO is notified that no departmental investigation shall occur, the OPO shall have ten business days to advise IA in writing that the OPO believes an investigation should occur and the basis for such belief; if no such notice is received it shall be understood that the OPO agrees with the department's decision not to investigate. When either the Chief or her/his designee determines that the allegations warrant an investigation, such investigation shall be approved, and IA will initiate the investigative process. For those investigations not performed by IA such as a Shift Level investigation, IA will direct another Police Department member to do the investigation.

If the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman disagree with the classification of the complaint as an investigation other than an IA Investigation, the Ombudsman may appeal the classification to the Chief of Police. The Chief of Police shall make the final determination on the classification.

When the Department initiates an investigation, the OPO will have the opportunity to participate in that investigative process as follows:

1. Internal Affairs or the Police Department member conducting the investigation for those other than IA investigations will notify the OPO of all administrative interviews on all

investigations. The Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman will promptly be given access to all documentation in the possession of the Police Department that is relevant to the stated complaint and necessary for determining whether the internal investigation was timely, thorough and objective, including access to IA Pro and Blue Team for all information related to the stated complaint. Any and all video that is downloaded and provided to the OPO and/or the Police Ombudsman Commission for any purpose authorized by Article 27 shall be uniquely marked by the Police Department, prior to being provided, in order to prevent the copying and/or distribution of such video for a purpose not authorized by Article 27. The Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman may assign the retrieval, indexing, and search of such documentation to the OPO.

The Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman may attend and observe interviews, in person or by telephone, and will be given the opportunity to ask questions during the interview after the completion of questioning by the Department. The Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman will not participate in criminal investigations of Department employees but will be notified when the criminal case is concluded.

- 2. Upon completion or suspension without completion of investigations, IA will forward a complete copy of the case file to the OPO for review. When the OPO is notified that an investigation is suspended, the OPO shall have ten business days to advise IA in writing that the OPO believes the investigation should not be suspended and the basis for such belief; if no such notice is received it shall be understood that the OPO agrees with the decision to suspend the investigation. If an investigation is completed, the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman will review the case file and determine whether the investigation was timely, thorough and objective, prior to a chain of command review.
- 3. As a part of the review process of completed or suspended investigations, the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman may conclude that further investigation is needed on issues deemed material to the outcome. The OPO will notify IA of the suggested further investigation in such cases. The Ombudsman's and/or Deputy Ombudsman's suggestions

and rationale for further investigation will be provided to IA in writing. The Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman and assigned investigator(s) will discuss the suggested further investigation and attempt to reach an agreement. If there is no agreement between the assigned investigator(s) and the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman regarding the necessity, practicality or materiality of the requested further investigation, the OPO will notify the Chief (or designee) in writing of the Ombudsman's or Deputy Ombudsman's suggestions and rationale for further investigation. The written request of the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman shall specifically list the additional investigative steps that the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman is requesting be taken. The Chief (or designee) will determine whether further investigation will be undertaken by IA. The Chief (or designee) will provide his/hertheir determination in writing.

4. Where the complaint giving rise to the investigation, whether made to the Department or the OPO, is a complaint of a serious matter (complaints that could lead to suspension, demotion, or discharge) involving allegations that an employee either improperly used force or improperly/inappropriately interacted with citizens, if the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman is not satisfied with the determination of the Chief concerning an investigation referenced in this section, the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman may present a request for further investigation to the Police Ombudsman Commission, which shall specifically list the additional investigative steps that the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman is requesting be taken. The Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman will promptly provide the Police Ombudsman Commission all documentation in the possession of the OPO that is relevant to evaluate the Ombudsman's and/or Deputy Ombudsman's request. The OPO will also prepare a log reflecting the documentation provided to the Police Ombudsman Commission. The log will be retained by the OPO and a copy will promptly be provided to IA. The Police Ombudsman Commission shall return all documentation received from the OPO to the OPO, after making its final determination.

Spokane Police Guild Agreement

The decision of the Police Ombudsman Commission will be final and be based upon the Ombudsman's or Deputy Ombudsman's written request and the Chief's (or designee's) written response, and other information received from the OPO relevant to evaluate the OPO's request. Once the matter has been referred to and resolved by the Police Ombudsman Commission, an Independent Investigation referenced in this section will be completed consistent with the decision of the Police Ombudsman Commission on the OPO's request. The Independent Investigation shall be limited to the additional investigative steps that were in the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman's written request. The Police Ombudsman Commission may direct the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman or a third- party investigator to undertake an Independent Investigation to complete the further investigation requested by the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman referenced in this section; however, no such investigation may commence until the Chief has made a final, written discipline determination in the matter. If the Police Ombudsman Commission contracts for a thirdparty to do the Independent Investigation, it shall be conducted by someone with knowledge and experience in conducting a fair and objective law-enforcement investigation and who has no conflict of interest. The Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman or third-party investigator may request, but not require, participation by police officers in the investigation. Once the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman or third-party investigator has completed the OPO requested investigation, the Commission may publish a closing report of the results of the investigation of the OPO or third-party investigation, so long as the closing report does not identify specific members of the Department bargaining unit employees and does not in any way comment on officer discipline (or lack thereof). The closing report may be authored by the investigator (OPO or third-party), OPOC or a combination thereof. The closing report will identify the author(s). There shall only be one closing report for an Independent Investigation. The closing report may include the allegation made in the complaint, a summary of the investigative steps taken by the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman or

third-party investigator, and any policy and practice recommendations; however, the report will not determine whether there has been a violation of the law or policy or recommend discipline. The closing report of the Independent Investigation also may include the OPO or OPOC's perspective of the factual information that was obtained as a result of the investigation. Any closing report from an Independent Investigation shall clearly state that the information expressed within the report is the perspective of the OPO and/or OPOC, that the OPO and/or OPOC do not speak for the City on the matter, and that the report is not an official determination of what occurred.

The further investigation and/or the Police Ombudsman Commission's closing report may not be used by the City as a basis to open or re-open complaints against any bargaining unit employees, including those assigned to IA, or to reconsider any decision(s) previously made concerning discipline. No discipline of or other tangible adverse employment actions against bargaining unit employees, including but not limited to decisions regarding defense and indemnification of an officer, may result from the OPO or third-party investigation.

The request from the OPO for IA to do further investigation, the process of review and decision making on that request, or the requirement to do further investigation do not suspend the 180 day requirement of Article 24.

- 5. After completion of the further investigation by IA referenced in paragraph (j)3 above, or the conclusion (by IA or the Commission) that no further investigation by IA will be undertaken, the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman will then certify whether or not, in the opinion of the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman, the internal investigation was timely, thorough and objective. This determination will be made within ten business days. Once the certification determination is made in writing, the OPO will not be involved further in the disciplinary process in that case.
- 6. Where the complaint giving rise to the investigation, whether made to the Department of the OPO, is not a complaint of a serious matter (complaints that could lead to suspension, demotion, or discharge) involving allegations that the employee either improperly used

force or improperly/inappropriately interacted with citizens, and if the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman requests further investigation, then the determination of the Chief on the request shall be final.

As set forth in paragraph i above, the OPO will be notified if the Chief or designee determines that any complaint received by the Internal Affairs unit (including those forwarded to IA from the OPO) will not be investigated by written notice referenced in paragraph j above. If IA notifies the OPO in writing that thereshall be no investigation of a complaint received by the Internal Affairs unit (including those forwarded to IAfrom the OPO) where the complaint giving rise to the investigation whether made to the Department or the OPO is a complaint of a serious matter (complaints that could lead to suspension, demotion or discharge) involving allegations that an employee either improperly used force or improperly/inappropriately interacted with citizens then the OPO may conduct an OPO Independent Investigation into that complaint. The Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman may request, but not require, participation by police officers in the investigation. The OPO may publish a report of the results of the investigation of a complaint referenced in this section, so long as the report does not identify specific members bargaining unit employees of the Department and does not in anyway comment on officer discipline (or lack thereof). The closing report of the Independent Investigation mayinclude the OPO's perspective of the factual information that was obtained as a result of the investigation. Any closing report from an independent investigation shall clearly state that the information expressed withinthe report is the perspective of the OPO, that the OPO does not speak for the City on the matter, and the report is not an official determination of what occurred. Any released investigation of a complaint referenced in this section will not identify specific members bargaining unit employees of the Department. The Ombudsman's or Deputy Ombudsman's investigation and/or OPO's closing report of a complaint referenced in this section may not be used by the City as a basis to open complaints against any bargaining unit employee(s), including those assigned to IA, or to reconsider any decision(s) previously made concerning discipline. No discipline of or other tangible adverse employment actions against bargaining unit employees, including but not limited to decisions regarding defense and indemnification of an officer, may result from the Ombudsman or DeputyOmbudsman investigation.

The request from the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman for IA to do an investigation of a complaint Spokane Police Guild Agreement

referenced in this section, the process of review and decision making on that request, or the requirement to do an investigation do not suspend the 180 day requirement of Article 24.

(<u>h)(m)</u> All disciplinary decisions will be made by the Chief (or designee).

(m)(n) The OPO will be provided a copy of any letter or other notification to an officer informing them of actual discipline imposed as a result of an internal affairs investigation or any Notice of Finding in the event that the complaint is not sustained.

(n)(o) The OPO will be notified by IA within ten business days of case closure or suspension of all IA Investigations. The OPO, in addition to the Department's written Notice of Finding letter to the complainant, may send a letter to the complainant. The letter may summarize the investigative process and the Department's case findings.

(e)(p) Any complaining party who is not satisfied with the findings of the Department concerning their complaint may contact the Office of Police Ombudsman to discuss the matter further. However, unless persuasive and probative new information is provided, the investigation will remain closed. In accordance with established arbitral case law, employees may not be disciplined twice for the same incident. In the event the investigation is re-opened and discipline imposed, the appropriate burden of establishing compliance with this section rests with the City in any subsequent challenge to the discipline.

(p)(q) Once the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman has made a certification decision and the Chief has made a final determination on the case, the OPO may publish a closing report that summarizes the complaint, the IA or Departmental Investigation, which the OPO had the opportunity to be involved in, and the Department's findings, and any recommendations of the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman for changes in departmental policies to improve the quality of police practices, training, and investigations. This closing report may include the OPO's perspective of the factual information that was obtained as a result of the IA investigation. Any closing report from an IA investigation shall clearly state that the information expressed within the report is the perspective of the OPO, that the OPO does not speak for the City on the matter, and the report is not an official determination of what occurred. Prior to making any policy recommendations, the closing report will include the current policy practice, policy, and/or training as applicable and shall expressly state that the policy recommendations that follow reflect the OPO's opinion on Spokane Police Guild Agreement

modifications that may assist the Department in reducing the likelihood of harm in the future; they do not reflect an opinion on individual job performance under the current policy, practice, or training. The closing report will not disclose the names of officers or witnesses. The OPO's closing report shall not be used in disciplinary proceedings or other tangible adverse employment actions against bargaining unit employees, including but not limited to decisions regarding defense and indemnification of an officer.

Chief has made a final determination on the case, IA may publish a case summary. The case summary may include an incident synopsis, summary of the complaint, summary of the investigation, and an analysis and conclusion. The case summary will not disclose the names of officers or witnesses. Prior to IA publishing the case summary, IA will send the case summary to the OPO. The Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman will review the case summary and respond to IA with any input within ten business days from the receipt of the case summary. IA and the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman will collaborate on the input received from the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman. IA-The Chief will make the final determination if IA and the Ombudsman and/or Deputy Ombudsman do not agree on the case summary after collaborating.

(r)(s) In addition to the investigative process, the OPO will have unimpeded access to all complaint and investigative files from IA Investigations for auditing and reporting purposes. The OPO and Police Ombudsman Commission shall not retain investigative materials and/or files beyond one year after a certification decision, for any purpose, and will return the same to Internal Affairs for safekeeping and delete all downloaded files. At all times and including, without limitation, issuing written reports, the OPO will not release the name(s) of employees or other individuals involved in incidents or investigations nor any other personally identifying information. The OPO may make statistical observations regarding the disciplinary results of sustained internal investigations, but shall not take issue with discipline imposed by the Chief of Police in specific cases.

(s)(t) The OPO may recommend policies and procedures for the review and/or audit of the complaint resolution process, and review and recommend changes in departmental policies to improve the quality of police investigations and practices. The OPO may publish a policy and procedure report that identifies the OPO's recommended policy and procedure changes. The OPO's recommendations will be Spokane Police Guild Agreement

related to departmental procedure, policies, training, or related issues. The policy and procedure report is a tool for the OPO to provide recommendations for future changes, additions, or modifications to policies, training, or procedures. Any policy report should identify the current policy or practice that the OPO is recommending changing. The OPO will not make recommendations concerning discipline for specific cases or officers. Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the Guild's right to require the City to engage in collective bargaining as authorized by law.

(t)(u) No report authorized under this Article, including closing reports and policy and procedure reports shall comment on discipline of an officer(s). This prohibition includes a prohibition on writing in a report whether the OPO or OPOC agrees with or differs with the Chief's findings, whether the officer acted properly, whether the officer's actions were acceptable, or whether the officer's actions were in compliance with training or policy. Additionally, no report will criticize an officer or witness or include a statement on the OPO or OPOC's opinion on the veracity or credibility of an officer or witness.

(u)(v) Prior to the release of any closing report by the OPO or OPOC, the Guild will be provided with a copy of the closing report to review for potential contract violations prior to the report's public release. Any alleged contract violations must be disclosed in writing to the Mayor with a copy to the OPO and OPOC within ten business days of receiving the closing report ("OPO closing report Grievance"). If an OPO closing report Grievance is not timely filed, the closing report may be released.

The OPO closing report Grievance must include the information required in Article 5, Step 1. The grievance filing will include the specific sentences of the closing report that allegedly violate the Agreement, an explanation of how those sentences violate specific sections of the Agreement, and proposed modifications to comply with the Agreement. The Mayor and/or designee will request a written response by the OPO or OPOC as applicable within ten business days of receiving the OPO closing report Grievance. In lieu of or in addition to a written response, the Mayor and/or designee will offer to facilitate a meeting between the OPO and/or OPOC, City and Guild as appropriate to resolve the OPO closing report Grievance. If the OPO closing report Grievance is not resolved within 30 calendar days of the date of the filling of the OPO closing report Grievance, the Guild may request Expedited Arbitration. The Arbitrator will conduct an arbitration within twenty-one (21) calendar days of the Guild's request for Expedited Arbitration, and issue a Spokane Police Guild Agreement

bench decision. The decision will be final and binding upon the parties. The Arbitrator shall have no authority to amend, alter, or modify this Agreement or its terms and shall limit his/her decision solely to whether the closing report violates the Agreement. The time limits for Expedited Arbitration may be extended upon mutual agreement of the parties. Requests to extend the time limits will not be unreasonably denied.

(x) A committee of five (5) members (Committee) will be formed that will recommend three (3) candidates for the OPO-Ombudsman position to the Police Ombudsman Commission (one of which must be selected). The Committee shall be composed of one member appointed by the Spokane Police Officers Guild; one member appointed by the Lieutenants and Captains Association; one member appointed by the President of the CityCouncil; one member appointed by the Mayor; and a fifth member selected by the other four members.

(w)(y) A committee of five (5) members (Committee) will be formed that will recommend three (3) candidates for the Deputy Ombudsman position to the Police Ombudsman Commission (one of which must be selected). The Committee shall be composed of one member appointed by the Spokane Police Officers Guild; one member appointed by the Lieutenants and Captains Association; one member appointed by the President of the City Council; one member appointed by the Mayor; and a fifth member selected by the other four members. The Ombudsman may sit on the Committee and participate in the process and interviews, but will be a non-voting member of the Committee.

Board (UFRB), Collision Review Board (CRB), and Deadly Force Review Board (DFRB) as a participating observer. Based upon such participation, may recommend policies and procedures for the review and/or audit of the operation of the UFRB and/or CRB and/or DFRB and recommended changes in departmental policies to improve the quality of such reviews. The OPO may publish a policy and procedure report that identifies the OPO's recommended policy and procedure changes. The OPO's recommendations will be related to departmental procedure, policies, training, or related issues. The OPO will not make recommendations concerning discipline for specific cases or officers. Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the Guilds right to require the City to engage in collective bargaining as authorized by law.

(y)(aa) In addition to whatever job requirements may be established by the City, which shall be the Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-20212023-2026

same for the Ombudsman and Deputy Ombudsman, one of the minimum job requirements for the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman will be to have a history that includes the establishment of a reputation for even-handedness in dealing with both complainants and the regulated parties. The City also agrees that compliance with the confidentiality provisions of this agreement will be a condition of employment for all employees of the OPO, including the Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman. Inadvertent, de minimis disclosures shall not be considered a violation of this section. A disclosure which is more than an inadvertent, de minimis disclosure shall result in discipline as outlined in Section 4.32.100 of the Spokane Municipal Code (effective date of March 26, 2014), which may include the removal of the person(s) making the disclosure from the OPO. The City also agrees that acting within the authority given to the OPO by the City including under the Spokane Municipal Code and this Agreement will be a condition of employment. The City will require that each individual member within the OPO sign a statement confirming that she/he will only act within the authority she/he received from the City including from the Spokane Municipal Code and this Agreement. Knowingly or negligently acting outside of their legal authority will be considered a failure to perform the duties of the office and/or negligence in the performance of the duties and may result in appropriate discipline up to and including removal of the person(s) from the OPO in accordance with the Spokane Municipal Code (effective date of March 26, 2014).

(z)(bb) Allegations that the OPO has intentionally knowingly or negligently exceeded his/her authority as defined by the Spokane Municipal Code and this Agreement shall be resolved using the OPO Grievance and Expedited Arbitration. A grievance alleging a violation must be presented to the Mayor within 28 calendar days of the occurrence and include the information provided for in Step 1 of the grievance procedure. The Mayor and/or designee will request a written response by the OPO or OPOC as applicable within ten business days of receiving the OPO Grievance. In lieu of or in addition to a written response, the Mayor and/or designee will offer to facilitate a meeting between the OPO and/or OPOC, City and Guild as appropriate to resolve the OPO Grievance. If the OPO Grievance is not resolved within 30 calendar days of the date of the filling of the OPO Grievance, the Guild may request Expedited Arbitration. The Arbitrator will conduct an arbitration within twenty-one (21) calendar days of the Guild's request for Expedited Arbitration, and issue a bench decision. The decision will be final and binding upon the parties. The Arbitrator shall have no Spokane Police Guild Agreement

authority to amend, alter, or modify this Agreement or its terms and shall limit his/her decision solely to whether the OPO or OPOC have violated the Agreement. The time limits for Expedited Arbitration may be extended upon mutual agreement of the parties. Requests to extend the time limits will not be unreasonably denied.

(ccaa) Except where a different grievance procedure is specifically provided for, alleged violations of Article 27 are subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of the bargaining agreement. In the event the Guild believes a candidate recommended by the Committee for Ombudsman or Deputy Ombudsman does not meet the minimum job requirement established in Section (v) above, the Guild must within three (3) days of the recommendation present information to the Police Ombudsman Commission about their concern. If that person is ultimately selected by the Police Ombudsman Commission, the Guild may file a grievance within five (5) days of the appointment and an expedited arbitration process will be utilized to resolve the matter. The Arbitrator will conduct an arbitration within twenty-one (21) days, and issue a bench decision. The decision will be final and binding upon the parties. Upon the filing of a grievance, the appointment shall be held in abeyance pending completion of the arbitration.

(bbdd) The City will require that each member of the Police Ombudsman Commission sign a confidentiality statement confirming as a condition of service that they will not release the name(s) of employees or other individuals involved in incidents or investigations, nor any other personally identifying information. Inadvertent, de minimis disclosures shall not be considered a violation of this section. A disclosure which is more than an inadvertent, de minimis disclosure may result in the removal by the City Council of the person(s) making the disclosure from the Police Ombudsman Commission.

(eeee) The City will require that each member of the Police Ombudsman Commission sign a statement confirming as a condition of service that she/he will only act within the authority she/he received from the City, including from the Spokane Municipal Code and this Agreement. Acting outside of their authority may result in the removal by the City Council of the person(s) from the Police Ombudsman Commission.

(ddff) In addition to whatever job requirements may be established by the City, one of the minimum job requirements for the members of the Police Ombudsman Commission will be to have a history that Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-20212023-2026

includes the establishment of a reputation for even-handedness in dealing with both complainants and the regulated parties.

(eeii) Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the Guilds right to require the City to engage in collective bargaining as authorized by law.

#### <u>ARTICLE 28 – SALARY SAVINGS PLAN</u>

The parties agree to adopt the Guild Salary Savings Plan under the following terms:

#### A. Eligibility and Payment Terms

		Age + Years of Service	Monthly Payment	Duration	
LEOFF II	<b>DFF II</b> 53 78		\$500		
LEOFF I	53 78 \$300 5 years (60 mon		5 years (60 months)		

The monthly payment will be made into an HRA account. The individual accounts are subject to deduction for administration costs. The HRA will be an inheritable asset, if allowed by law.

#### B. Limits and Deadlines

	2010	Subsequent years		
Number eligible	10	10		
Deadline to apply for the incentive	March 1, 2010	Dec. 31 of the prior year		
Deadline to retire	August 30, 2010	Between January 1 and June 30		

Employees must complete and turn in an application form by the above deadline in order to be eligible for the incentive. Applicants must meet retirement eligibility requirements under their LEOFF pension plan.

If the City receives applications from more than 10 employees in one year, the incentive will be given to Spokane Police Guild Agreement 2017-20212023-2026

the eligible employees highest on the seniority list. If an employee does not receive the benefit based on seniority, that employee may be eligible for the incentive in future years.

#### C. Disqualifications

The intent of this program is for service retirements only. Employees who are receiving L&I or long term disability or are on medical layoff/retirement are disqualified from the incentive. If at any time during the incentive payment term the recipient of the incentive begins receiving L&I or long term disability, incentive payments under this program will cease.

Employees who have already applied and been approved for the City's Voluntary Retirement Incentive Program (VRIP) are disqualified from the incentive. Under no circumstance can an employee receive benefits from both the VRIP and the incentive program outlined by this Salary Savings Plan.

If an employee applies for the incentive but does not retire by the established deadline, the employee will not be eligible for the incentive in that year or any future year. If an employee is approved for the benefit but does not retire, then the next eligible applicant on the seniority list will receive the incentive.

#### D. COLA

The agreed monthly payment amounts will not be subject to any cost of living adjustment.

#### E. Discontinuance/Reinstatement of Plan

The City has the right to discontinue this incentive plan at any time. The City has provided notice that the program will be discontinued following 2013 retirements.

The City has the right to reinstate the plan on January 1 of any year.

If at any point the incentive is modified or discontinued, employees who have already been approved to receive the incentive will continue to receive payments under the terms that were in place at the time that they were approved for the incentive.

Dated thisday of	, <del>2021</del> 2023.	
FOR THE CITY OF SPOKANE:		FOR THE SPOKANE POLICE GUILD:
Nadine Woodward Mayor	_	David Dunkin President
Johnnie Perkins City Administrator	_	Timothy Schwering Vice-President
Craig Meidl Police Chief	_	Trevor Winters Vice-President
Justin Lundgren Assistant Police Chief	_	Kelly Mongan Secretary
David Moss Human Resources Director	_	Michael Baldwin Treasurer
Approved as to form:		Attest:
Lynden Smithson City Attorney	_	Terri Pfister City Clerk

SPOKANE Agenda Sheet	Date Rec'd	6/26/2023		
06/29/2023		Clerk's File #	OPR 2023-0658	
		Renews #		
Submitting Dept	MUNICIPAL COURT	Cross Ref #	OPR 2023-	
			0036/0037	
<b>Contact Name/Phone</b>	HOWARD DELANEY 625-4450	Project #		
Contact E-Mail	HDELANEY@SPOKANECITY.ORG	Bid #		
Agenda Item Type	Contract Item	Requisition #	CR25114	
Agenda Item Name	0560 CONTRACT WITH PHOENIX COUNSELING FOR DOMESTIC VIOLENCE			
	TREATMENT			

#### **Agenda Wording**

Domestic violence assessment and treatment services provided to participants in the Municipal Court's Domestic Violence Intervention Therapeutic Court (DVITC).

#### Summary (Background)

The City of Spokane's Municipal Court is entering into a contract with Phoenix Counseling Services, LLC, in accordance with RFP 5841-23 issued by the City to provide domestic violence screening, assessment and treatment services to participants involved in the Domestic Violence Intervention Therapeutic Court (DVITC). The contract is to be effective May 1, 2023 through April 30, 2024.

Lease? NO Grant related? YES Public Works? NO							
<u>Fiscal</u>	mpact		Budget Account				
Expense	<b>\$</b> \$29,760		# 1360-91213-12500-5410	01-99999			
Expense	<b>\$</b> \$500		# 1360-91214-12500-5410	01-99999			
Expense	<b>\$</b> \$161,740		# 1360-912XX-12500-5410	010-99999			
Select	\$		#				
Approv	als_		<b>Council Notification</b>	<u>s</u>			
Dept He	<u>ad</u>	DELANEY, HOWARD	Study Session\Other	01/09/2023 Urban Exp			
				(SBO)			
<b>Division Director</b> LOGAN, MARY			Council Sponsor	CP Beggs/CM Wilkerson			
<u>Finance</u>		BUSTOS, KIM	<b>Distribution List</b>				
<u>Legal</u>			hdelaney@spokanecity.org				
For the	<u>Mayor</u>	SMITHSON, LYNDEN	sthompson@spokanecity.org				
Additio	nal Approval	<u>s</u>	aharte@spokanecity.org				
Purchas	ing		jlargent@spokanecity.org				
ACCOUNTING -		MURRAY, MICHELLE	kbustos@spokanecity.org				
<u>GRANTS</u>	<u> </u>						
			bam@phoenixcounselingservices.org				
			mdiamond@spokanecity.org				

# Committee Agenda Sheet Public Safety & Community Health Committee

Submitting Department	ubmitting Department Municipal Court				
Contact Name	Name Howard Delaney				
Contact Email & Phone	hdelaney@spokanecity.org 509-625-4450				
Council Sponsor(s)	ponsor(s) CP Beggs/CM Wilkerson				
Select Agenda Item Type	□ Consent □ Discussion Time Requested:				
Agenda Item Name	Contract with Phoenix Counseling for Domestic Violence Treatment				
*use the Fiscal Impact box below for relevant financial information  The City of Spokane's Municipal Court is entering into a contract with Phoenix Counseling Services, LLC, in accordance with RFP 5841-23 issued by the City to provide domestic violence screening, assessment and treatment services to participants involved in the Domestic Violence Intervention Therapeutic Court (DVITC). The contract is to be effective May 1, 2023, through April 30, 2024.					
Proposed Council Action	Approve				
Fiscal Impact  Total Cost: 192,000.00  Approved in current year budget?					
How will data be collected, analyzed, and reported concerning the effect of the program/policy by racial, ethnic, gender identity, national origin, income level, disability, sexual orientation, or other existing disparities?  Data and associated costs are tracked in Court's case management system, FMS and grant tracking systems.					
is the right solution?	How will data be collected regarding the effectiveness of this program, policy or product to ensure it is the right solution?  Data is collected in the Court's case management system for therapeutic court programs.				
	gns with current City Policies, including the Comprehensive Plan, tal Improvement Program, Neighborhood Master Plans, Council				



#### City of Spokane

#### PERSONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT

Title: DOMESTIC VIOLENCE SCREENING, TREATMENT ASSESSMENT, AND TREATMENT

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the CITY OF SPOKANE as ("City"), a Washington municipal corporation, and PHOENIX COUNSELING SERVICES, LLC, whose address is 901 East Second Avenue, Suite 204, Spokane, Washington 99202, as ("Company"), individually hereafter referenced as a "party", and together as the "parties".

The parties agree as follows:

#### 1. PERFORMANCE.

The Company shall provide Domestic Violence Screening, Treatment Assessment, and Treatment Services, in accordance with RFP 5841-23 issued by the City, and the Company's RFP Response dated March 13, 2023, which is attached as Exhibit B. In the event of a conflict between the Company and this City Contract, the terms of this contract will control.

#### 2. TERM OF AGREEMENT.

The term of this Agreement begins on May 1, 2023, and shall run through April 30, 2024, unless amended by written agreement or terminated earlier under the provisions. This Agreement may be renewed by agreement of the parties not to exceed four (4) additional one (1) year contract periods.

#### 3. COMPENSATION / PAYMENT.

The City shall pay Company for services under this Agreement in accordance with the Budget Breakdown located in Exhibit B and not to exceed **ONE HUNDRED NINETY TWO THOUSAND AND NO/100 DOLLARS (\$192,000.00)**, plus applicable tax, unless modified by a written amendment to this Agreement. This is the maximum amount to be paid under this Agreement for the work described in Section 1 above, and shall not be exceeded without the prior written authorization of the City in the form of an executed amendment to this Agreement.

The Company shall submit its applications for payment to Municipal Court, Administration Office, West 1100 Mallon Avenue, Spokane, Washington 99201. **Payment will be made via direct deposit/ACH** within thirty (30) days after receipt of the Company's application except as provided by state law. If the City objects to all or any portion of the invoice, it shall notify the Company and reserves the right to only pay that portion of the invoice not in dispute. In that event, the parties shall immediately make every effort to settle the disputed amount.

#### 4. TAXES. FEES AND LICENSES.

A. Company shall pay and maintain in current status, all necessary licenses, fees, assessments, permit charges, etc. necessary to conduct the work included under this Agreement. It is the Company's sole responsibility to monitor and determine changes or

the enactment of any subsequent requirements for said fees, assessments, or changes and to immediately comply.

B. The cost of any permits, licenses, fees, etc. arising as a result of the projects included in this Agreement shall be included in the project budgets.

#### 5. CITY OF SPOKANE BUSINESS LICENSE.

Section 8.01.070 of the Spokane Municipal Code states that no person may engage in business with the City without first having obtained a valid annual business registration. The Company shall be responsible for contacting the State of Washington Business License Services at www.dor.wa.gov or 360-705-6741 to obtain a business registration. If the Company does not believe it is required to obtain a business registration, it may contact the City's Taxes and Licenses Division at (509) 625-6070 to request an exemption status determination.

#### 6. SOCIAL EQUITY REQUIREMENTS / NON-DISCRIMINATION.

No individual shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefit of, subjected to discrimination under, or denied employment in the administration of or in connection with this Agreement because of age, sex, race, color, religion, creed, marital status, familial status, sexual orientation including gender expression or gender identity, national origin, honorably discharged veteran or military status, the presence of any sensory, mental or physical disability, or use of a service animal by a person with disabilities. The Company agrees to comply with, and to require that all subcontractors comply with, federal, state and local nondiscrimination laws, including but not limited to: the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, and the American's With Disabilities Act, to the extent those laws are applicable.

#### 7. INDEMNIFICATION.

The Company shall defend, indemnify, and hold the City and its officers and employees harmless from all claims, demands, or suits at law or equity asserted by third parties for bodily injury (including death) and/or property damage which arise from the Company's negligence or willful misconduct under this Agreement, including attorneys' fees and litigation costs; provided that nothing herein shall require a Company to indemnify the City against and hold harmless the City from claims, demands or suits based solely upon the negligence of the City, its agents, officers, and employees. If a claim or suit is caused by or results from the concurrent negligence of the Company's agents or employees and the City, its agents, officers and employees, this indemnity provision shall be valid and enforceable to the extent of the negligence of the Company, its agents or employees. The Company specifically assumes liability and agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold the City harmless for actions brought by the Company's own employees against the City and, solely for the purpose of this indemnification and defense, the Company specifically waives any immunity under the Washington State industrial insurance law, or Title 51 RCW. The Company recognizes that this waiver was specifically entered into pursuant to the provisions of RCW 4.24.115 and was the subject of mutual negotiation. The indemnity and agreement to defend and hold the City harmless provided for in this section shall survive any termination or expiration of this agreement.

#### 8. INSURANCE.

During the period of the Agreement, the Company shall maintain in force at its own expense, each insurance noted below with companies or through sources approved by the State Insurance Commissioner pursuant to Title 48 RCW:

A. Worker's Compensation Insurance in compliance with RCW 51.12.020, which requires subject employers to provide workers' compensation coverage for all their subject workers and Employer's Liability Insurance in the amount of \$1,000,000;

- B. **General Liability Insurance** on an occurrence basis, with a combined single limit of not less than \$1,000,000 each occurrence for bodily injury and property damage. It shall include contractual liability coverage for the indemnity provided under this Agreement. It shall provide that the City, its officers and employees are additional insureds but only with respect to the Company's services to be provided under this Agreement;
  - i. Acceptable **supplementary Umbrella insurance** coverage combined with Company's General Liability insurance policy must be a minimum of \$1,000,000, in order to meet the insurance coverage limits required in this Agreement; and
- C. **Automobile Liability Insurance** with a combined single limit, or the equivalent of not less than \$1,000,000 each accident for bodily injury and property damage, including coverage for owned, hired and non-owned vehicles.
- D. Professional Liability Insurance with a combined single limit of not less than \$1,000,000 each claim, incident or occurrence. This is to cover damages caused by the error, omission, or negligent acts related to the professional services to be provided under this Agreement. The coverage must remain in effect for at least two (2) years after the Agreement is completed.

There shall be no cancellation, material change, reduction of limits or intent not to renew the insurance coverage(s) without forty-five (45) days written notice from the Company or its insurer(s) to the City. As evidence of the insurance coverage(s) required by this Agreement, the Company shall furnish acceptable Certificates of Insurance (COI) to the City at the time it returns this signed Agreement. The certificate shall specify the City of Spokane as "Additional Insured" specifically for Company's services under this Agreement, as well as all of the parties who are additional insureds, and include applicable policy endorsements, the forty-five (45) day cancellation clause, and the deduction or retention level. The Company shall be financially responsible for all pertinent deductibles, self-insured retentions, and/or self-insurance.

#### 9. DEBARMENT AND SUSPENSION.

The Company has provided its certification that it is in compliance with and shall not contract with individuals or organizations which are debarred, suspended, or otherwise excluded from or ineligible from participation in Federal Assistance Programs under Executive Order 12549 and "Debarment and Suspension", codified at 29 CFR part 98.

#### 10. AUDIT.

The Company and its sub-contractor shall maintain for a minimum of three (3) years following final payment all records related to its performance of the Agreement. The Company and its sub-contractors shall provide access to authorized City representatives, at reasonable times and in a reasonable manner to inspect and copy any such record. In the event of conflict between this provision and related auditing provisions required under federal law applicable to the Agreement, the federal law shall prevail.

#### 11. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING.

The Company shall not assign or subcontract its obligations under this Agreement without the City's written consent, which may be granted or withheld in the City's sole discretion. Any subcontract made by the Company shall incorporate by reference this Agreement, except as otherwise provided. The Company shall ensure that all subcontractors comply with the obligations and requirements of the subcontract. The City's consent to any assignment or

subcontract does not release the Company from liability or any obligation within this Agreement, whether before or after City consent, assignment or subcontract.

#### 12. TERMINATION.

Either party may terminate this Agreement, with or without cause, by ten (10) days written notice to the other party. In the event of such termination, the City shall pay the Company for all work previously authorized and performed prior to the termination date.

#### 13. STANDARD OF PERFORMANCE.

The standard of performance applicable to the Company's services will be the degree of skill and diligence normally employed by a professional Company performing the same or similar services at the time the services under this Agreement are performed.

#### 14. OWNERSHIP AND USE OF RECORDS AND DOCUMENTS.

Original documents, drawings, designs, reports, or any other records developed or created under this Agreement shall belong to and become the property of the City. All records submitted by the City to the Company shall be safeguarded by the Company. The Company shall make such data, documents and files available to the City upon the City's request. If the City's use of the Company's records or data is not related to this project, it shall be without liability or legal exposure to the Company.

Under Washington State Law (reference RCW Chapter 42.56, the *Public Records Act* [PRA]) all materials received or created by the City of Spokane are *public records* and are available to the public for viewing via the City Clerk's Records (online) or a valid Public Records Request (PRR).

#### 15. ANTI KICK-BACK.

No officer or employee of the City of Spokane, having the power or duty to perform an official act or action related to this Agreement shall have or acquire any interest in the Agreement, or have solicited, accepted or granted a present or future gift, favor, service or other thing of value from or to any person involved in this Agreement.

#### 16. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.

- A. Amendments/Modifications: This Agreement may be modified by the City in writing when necessary, and no modification or Amendment of this Agreement shall be effective unless signed by an authorized representative of each of the parties hereto.
- B. The Company, at no expense to the City, shall comply with all laws of the United States and Washington, the Charter and ordinances of the City of Spokane; and rules, regulations, orders and directives of their administrative agencies and officers. Without limiting the generality of this paragraph, the Company shall comply with the requirements of this Section.
- C. This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted under the laws of Washington. The venue of any action brought shall be in a court of competent jurisdiction, located in Spokane County, Washington.
- D. **Captions**: The titles of sections or subsections are for convenience only and do not define or limit the contents.
- E. **Severability**: If any term or provision is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall not be affected, and each term and provision shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law.
- F. Waiver: No covenant, term or condition or the breach shall be deemed waived, except by written consent of the party against whom the waiver is claimed, and any waiver of the breach of any covenant, term or condition shall not be deemed a waiver of any

preceding or succeeding breach of the same or any other covenant, term of condition. Neither the acceptance by the City of any performance by the Company after the time the same shall have become due nor payment to the Company for any portion of the Work shall constitute a waiver by the City of the breach or default of any covenant, term or condition unless otherwise expressly agreed to by the City in writing.

- G. Entire Agreement: This document along with any exhibits and all attachments, and subsequently issued addenda, comprises the entire agreement between the City and the Company. If conflict occurs between Agreement documents and applicable laws, codes, ordinances or regulations, the most stringent or legally binding requirement shall govern and be considered a part of this Agreement to afford the City the maximum benefits.
- H. No personal liability: No officer, agent or authorized employee of the City shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under this Agreement, whether expressed or implied, nor for any statement or representation made or in any connection with this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, in consideration of the terms, conditions and covenants contained, or attached and incorporated and made a part, the parties have executed this Agreement by having legally-binding representatives affix their signatures below.

PHOENIX COUNSELING SERVICES, LLC	CITY OF SPOKANE
By Brande A. M. Bride 5:27.23 Signature Date	By He run 6/20/2023 Signature Date
BRANDY A. MCBRIDE Type or Print Name	Howard F. Delaney Type or Print Name
DIRECTOR OWNER	Court Administrater Title
Attest:	Approved as to form:
City Clerk	Assistant City Attorney

Attachments that are part of this Agreement:

Exhibit A – Certificate Regarding Debarment

Exhibit B – Company's RFP Response dated March 13, 2023

23-075

#### **EXHIBIT A**

## CERTIFICATION REGARDING DEBARMENT, SUSPENSION, INELIGIBILITY AND VOLUNTARY EXCLUSION

- 1. The undersigned (i.e., signatory for the Subrecipient / Contractor / Consultant) certifies, to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and its principals:
  - a. Are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any federal department or agency;
  - b. Have not within a three-year period preceding this contract been convicted or had a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (federal, state, or local) transaction or contract under a public transaction; violation of federal or state antitrust statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, tax evasion, receiving stolen property, making false claims, or obstruction of justice;
  - c. Are not presently indicted or otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a government entity (federal, state, or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (1)(b) of this certification; and,
  - d. Have not within a three-year period preceding this contract had one or more public transactions (federal, state, or local) terminated for cause or default.
- 2. The undersigned agrees by signing this contract that it shall not knowingly enter into any lower tier covered transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this covered transaction.
- The undersigned further agrees by signing this contract that it will include the following clause, without modification, in all lower tier covered transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions:

Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion – Lower Tier Covered Transactions

- 1. The lower tier contractor certified, by signing this contract that neither it nor its principals is presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency.
- 2. Where the lower tier contractor is unable to certify to any of the statements in this contract, such contractor shall attach an explanation to this contract.
- 4. I understand that a false statement of this certification may be grounds for termination of the contract.

BRANDY A. MCBRIDE  Name of Subrecipient / Contractor / Consultant (Type or Print)	PROENIX COUNSTLING SERVICES Program Title (Type or Print)
Name of Certifying Official (Type or Print)  Title of Certifying Official (Type or Print)	Brander M. Bride Signature  5.21.2023  Date (Type or Print)

#### **EXHIBIT B**



CITY OF SPOKANE - PURCHASING 808 W. Spokane Falls Blvd. Spokane, Washington 99201-3316 (509) 625-6400

### REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS

**RFP NUMBER: 5841-23** 

RFP TITLE: Domestic Violence Screening, Treatment Assessment, and Treatment Services

<u>RFP COORDINATOR:</u> Connie Wahl, City of Spokane Purchasing Department

PRE-SUBMITTAL MEETING: None

**QUESTION DEADLINE:** Monday, February 20,

2023

TIME: 1:00 p.m.

PROPOSAL DUE DATE: Monday, February 27,

2023 <u>TIME:</u> 1:00 p.m.

#### **PROPOSAL SUBMITTAL:**

All Proposals shall be submitted electronically through the ProcureWare online procurement system portal:

https://spokane.procureware.com before the due date and time.

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	1.1	COMMUNICATION	_
	1.2	BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE	<u>)</u>
	1.3	MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS	<u>)</u>
		CONTRACT PERIOD	
	1.5	ADDENDA	2
	1.6	TERMS AND CONDITIONS	
	1.7	ESTIMATED SCHEDULE OF PROCUREMENT ACTIVITIES	
	1.8	DEFINITIONS	3
_		2	
2.	. SC	OPE OF SERVICES3	
3.	. PR	OPOSAL CONTENTS4	
		PREPARATION OF PROPOSAL	4
		LETTER OF SUBMITTAL	
	3.2	TECHNICAL PROPOSAL	4
	3.4	MANAGEMENT PROPOSAL	
		COST PROPOSAL	5
4.	. PR	OPOSAL SUBMISSION AND EVALUATION5	
	4.1	SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS	5
	4.2	EVALUATION PROCEDURE	6
	4.3	EVALUATION SCORING	6
	4.4	AWARD/REJECTION OF PROPOSAL/CONTRACT	6
5	. GR	ANT REQUIREMENTS6	
6	. RF	P ATTACHMENTS7	

#### 1. GENERAL INFORMATION

#### 1.1 COMMUNICATION

All communication between the Proposer and the City shall be with the Request for Proposal Coordinator and submitted through the 'Clarifications' tab in the City of Spokane's online procurement system portal: <a href="https://spokane.procureware.com">https://spokane.procureware.com</a>. Any communication directed to other parties is prohibited.

#### 1.2 BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

The City of Spokane, through Spokane Municipal Court (hereinafter "City") is initiating this Request for Proposals (hereinafter "RFP") to solicit Proposals from Firms interested in providing domestic violence (DV) assessment and treatment services to participants involved in the projected Domestic Violence Intervention Therapeutic Court (DVITC).

#### 1.3 MINIMUM QUALIFICATIONS

The Firm must be licensed to do business in the State of Washington. The Firm must have three (3) years of experience in domestic violence treatment, be able to provide domestic violence levels 1, 2, and 3, and be certified by the State of Washington Department of Social and Health Services. The Firm's direct treatment staff must be currently registered or licensed by the Washington State Department of Health. Reference Chapter 388-60B, Title 388 of WAC (Washington Administrative Code) "Domestic violence perpetrator treatment program standards" for requirement information on levels and certification.

#### 1.4 CONTRACT PERIOD

Any contract resulting from this RFP will be for a one (1) year period. Contract is renewable upon mutual agreement for up to four (4) one-year extension options.

#### 1.5 ADDENDA

It is the responsibility of Proposers to check the City of Spokane's online procurement system <a href="https://spokane.procureware.com">https://spokane.procureware.com</a> for Addenda or other additional information that may be posted regarding this Request for Proposals.

#### 1.6 TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Terms and Conditions applicable to this RFP are included herein by reference and attached to this RFP as Attachment 1.

#### 1.7 ESTIMATED SCHEDULE OF PROCUREMENT ACTIVITIES

Deadline for Questions	2/20/2023 - 1:00 p.m.
Proposals Due	2/27/2023 – 1:00 p.m.
Evaluation, Negotiation and Contract Award	March, 2023
Begin Contract Work	April/May, 2023

The City reserves the right to revise the above schedule.

#### 1.8 DEFINITIONS

Definitions for the purposes of this RFP include:

City - The City of Spokane, a Washington State municipal corporation, the agency issuing this RFP.

**DVITC** – Domestic Violence Intervention Therapeutic Court

**Firm or Consultant** – Individual or company whose Proposal has been accepted by the City and is awarded a fully executed, written contract.

Proposal - A formal offer submitted in response to this solicitation.

Proposer - Individual or Firm submitting a Proposal in order to attain a contract with the City.

**Request for Proposals (RFP)** – Formal procurement document in which a service or need is identified but no specific method to achieve it has been chosen. The purpose of an RFP is to permit the consultant community to suggest various approaches to meet the City's needs at a given price.

#### 2. SCOPE OF SERVICES

The Firm will provide services under contract that include, but may not be limited to, the following:

- 1. Provide domestic violence screenings, assessment, and reassessments for up to 50 participants engaged in the Domestic Violence Intervention Therapeutic Court (DVITC) annually.
- 2. Provide domestic violence counseling services. Treatment may include case management. Services will be provided for a minimum of six months.
- 3. Provide designated domestic violence counselor(s) to provide treatment, provide updates to the therapeutic court team, and attend staffing sessions and court in person to advocate for, and provide support to, participants.
- 4. Provide treatment for DVITC participants following a Continuum of Care. The Firm shall use an evidence-informed trauma treatment modality. Firm must provide a detailed description of each treatment modality and evidence to support its use with the identified treatment population. The Firm must describe how they will use the proposed screening and/or assessment tools(s) to determine the most appropriate treatment modality.
- 5. Recommendations for the level of intensity for treatment will be determined following a comprehensive assessment and then discussed with the DVITC Judge and participant during court sessions. The level of care may be matched with the DVITC Phase and requirements for compliance will be determined by the DVITC Judge.
- 6. Firm will work with each participant to prepare a written Continuing Care Pan prior to graduation.
- 7. Firm must be able to provide a site in the County of Spokane to provide services as requested onsite and in-person within reasonable amount of time from request.
- 8. Firm will ensure participants have access to counseling services in their native language, preferably through on-site counselors or on-site translation services.
- 9. Participants will not incur any out-of-pocket expenses without prior authorization from the court. Firm will provide financial statements, which will include individual participant costs as well as administrative overhead costs to provide services when seeking reimbursement from DVITC.

#### 3. PROPOSAL CONTENTS

#### 3.1 PREPARATION OF PROPOSAL

Proposals shall be clear, concise, in order and titled as: Letter of Submittal, Technical Proposal, Management Proposal and Cost Proposal.

#### 3.2 LETTER OF SUBMITTAL

The Letter of Submittal shall be signed and dated by a person authorized to legally bind the Firm to a contractual relationship. Include the following information about the Firm and any proposed subconsultants:

- A. Name, address, principal place of business, telephone number, and e-mail address of legal entity or individual with whom contract would be written.
- B. Legal status of the Firm (sole proprietorship, partnership, corporation, etc.) and location of the facility from which the Firm would operate.
- C. Identification of any current or former employees from the participating Agencies employed by or on the Firm's governing board as of the date of the Proposal or during the previous twelve (12) months.
- D. Confirmation that the Firm meets the minimum qualifications as identified in Paragraph 1.3 "Minimum Qualifications".
- E. Acknowledgement that the Firm will comply with all terms and conditions set forth in the Request for Proposals, unless otherwise agreed by the Agencies.

#### 3.3 TECHNICAL PROPOSAL

Proposal content for this section shall include an understanding of the City's requirements with a comprehensive proposed approach, methodology and work plan.

- A. Demonstrate a clear and concise understanding of the project requirements along with a proposed approach, methodology for management, and successful completion of the scope of services. Provide a detailed description of each treatment modality and evidence to support its use with the identified treatment population. Describe how proposed screening and/or assessment tools(s) will be used to determine the most appropriate treatment modality. The Firm may also present any creative approaches that may be appropriate and may provide any pertinent supporting documentation.
- B. Provide a detailed description of the work plan with all proposed tasks, services, activities, and other items necessary to accomplish the scope of the project as described in the Scope of Services section. Include example intake scenarios with estimated timelines for elements of work and deliverables. If applicable, provide name and address of any sub-consultant and what services they may provide. Include the Firm's expectations about any City staff involvement in the tasks, services, and activities necessary to execute the work plan.

#### 3.4 MANAGEMENT PROPOSAL

Proposal content for this section shall include experience, capabilities, qualifications and application of resources to convey the ability to perform the scope of services.

A. Indicate the experience the Firm, staff and any sub-consultants have relevant to the scope of services. Provide name, title, brief description of duties, responsibilities, qualifications, and years of

pertinent experience. Provide details describing project team, team assignments, allocation of resources, lines of authority, and responsibility. Identify person within the Firm that will have prime responsibility and authority for the work. Indicate availability for each staff member assigned to the project and include percentage of time each will be assigned to the project. Describe how Firm will respond proactively to issues and project scope changes. Resumes may be included limited to 2 pages per person. The Firm shall commit that staff identified in its Proposal will actually perform the assigned work. Any staff substitution must have the prior approval of the City.

- B. Include a list of contracts the Firm has had during the last three (3) years up to a maximum of ten (10) contracts that relate to the Firm's ability to perform the services needed under this RFP. Provide contract period, contact names, phone numbers and e-mail addresses. Identify three (3) specific references from this list and briefly describe the work accomplished. Do not include City staff as references. The Firm grants permission to the City to contact the list provided.
- C. If the Firm has had a contract terminated for default in the last five (5) years, describe the incident. Termination for default is defined as notice to stop performance due to the Firm's non-performance or poor performance and if the issue of performance was either (a) not litigated due to inaction on the part of the Proposer, or (b) litigated and such litigation determined that the Proposer was in default. Provide other party's name, address, phone number and email address. If no such termination for default has been experienced by the Firm in the past five (5) years, so indicate.

#### 3.5 COST PROPOSAL

The Cost Proposal shall identify all costs to be charged including any expenses necessary to accomplish the tasks and to produce the deliverables under the contract. The Cost Proposal should include fee for service structure to include but not limited to costs for assessment, group sessions, individual sessions, language services, case management, and other treatment relevant services. Firms are required to collect and pay Washington state sales tax, if applicable. Do not include Washington state sales tax in Proposal.

#### 4. PROPOSAL SUBMISSION AND EVALUATION

#### 4.1 SUBMISSION OF PROPOSALS

Proposals shall be submitted with most favorable terms that can be proposed. There will be no best and final offer procedure. Proposals shall be submitted electronically through the City of Spokane's online procurement system portal: <a href="https://spokane.procureware.com">https://spokane.procureware.com</a> before the due date and time. Hard paper, e-mailed or faxed copies will not be accepted. Late Proposals shall not be accepted. Proposers must register if they have not done so previously and follow the steps below to enter and submit the electronic Proposal:

- 1. Click on "Bids" located on the left hand column.
- 2. Find the applicable project and click the "Project Number".
- 3. Click on the "Response" tab.
- 4. In the "Questions" tab, answer questions and upload required documents into the bid portal by clicking on "Browse" for each item. Note that only one document can be uploaded per question line item so combine if necessary.

- 5. Click on the "Pricing" tab and enter pricing as requested. A "Comment" field is available if needed. Skip "Pricing" Tab if it has no line items. Cost shall be included in Proposal document submitted.
- 6. Once the Questions have been entered, the yellow "Question Response" information message will change from incomplete to complete. Then the "Submit" button will become available.
- 7. Click the "Submit Bid" button and review the terms and conditions, pop-up window that appears. If you agree to the terms and conditions, click the "I Accept and Submit this Bid" button.
- 8. If you want to remove your Proposal, click the red "Withdraw Bid" button in the "Response" tab for the applicable Proposal.

#### 4.2 EVALUATION PROCEDURE

Responsive Proposals will be evaluated in accordance with the requirements stated in this solicitation and any addenda issued. The City, at its sole discretion, may elect to select the top-scoring Firms as finalists for an oral presentation and evaluation. The RFP Coordinator may contact the Firm for clarification of any portion of the Firm's Proposal.

#### 4.3 EVALUATION SCORING

The Proposal will be evaluated as follows:

GRAND TOTAL FOR WRITTEN PROPOSAL		200 POINTS
COST PROPOSAL – 35%	70 Points (Maximum)	70 points
MANAGEMENT PROPOSAL – 30%  Firm and Staff Experience/Capabilities/Qualifications	60 Points (Maximum)	60 points
TECHNICAL PROPOSAL – 35% Project Approach/Methodology/Understanding Work Plan/Schedule/Deliverables	35 Points (Maximum) 35 Points (Maximum)	70 points

#### 4.4 AWARD/REJECTION OF PROPOSAL/CONTRACT

This RFP does not obligate the City to award a contract. Any contract awarded as a result of this procurement is contingent upon the availability of funding.

The City of Spokane reserves the option of awarding this contract in any manner most advantageous for the City and without further discussion of submitted Proposal. Failure to comply with any part of the RFP may result in rejection of Proposal as non-responsive. The City also reserves the right, at its sole discretion, to waive minor irregularities, reject any and all Proposals received without penalty and to not issue a contract from this RFP. More than one contract may be awarded. Contract negotiations may incorporate some or all of the Proposal.

Award of contract, when and if made, will be to the proposer whose Proposal is the most favorable to the City including consideration the evaluation criteria. Interlocal agreements accessing other agency contracts where applicable may be considered as a Proposal. Contract is optional (non-exclusive) use.

#### 5. GRANT REQUIREMENTS

This project is supported by the Washington Administrative Office of the Courts (AOC) under grant agreement IAA23976. The court will utilize a portion of the grant funding to provide treatment services

12

2/13/2023

and participant services to pay for domestic violence screening, treatment assessment, and treatment for the DVITC program (not covered by insurance). Since the program is grant funded, all awards are subject to change and may be modified, reduced, or discontinued depending on the funding allocation during future city budget sessions. Firms must take into consideration applicable grant requirements in making their Proposal and performing the work. The Firm shall provide the City any information needed to meet grant requirements for the services provided by the Firm.

#### 6. RFP ATTACHMENTS

Attachments applicable to this RFP are included herein by reference as follows:

Attachment 1 – Terms and Conditions

Attachment 2 – Washington State Administrative Office of the Courts Grant IAA23976

Level 3-minimum 52 weeks							
ltem	Quantity		Cost	To	tal Per Person	Serv	ices for 50
Risk Assessments	1	\$	300	\$	300	\$	15,000
	1	\$	60	\$	60	\$	3,000
Intake		_		-	2,600	\$	130,000
Groups	52	\$	50	\$		-	30,000
Individuals	10	\$	60	\$	600	\$	
Books	2	\$	50	\$	100	\$	5,000
Discharge Report	1	\$	60	\$	60	\$	3,000
Discharge Report				\$	3,720	\$	186,000
Administrative Services	12	\$	500	\$	6,000	l	
	Anticipate	J T.	rootmor	+ Ev	nenditures	Ś	192,000



#### **<** Business Lookup

#### **License Information:**

New search Back to results

**Entity name:** PHOENIX COUNSELING SERVICES, LLC

**Business name:** PHOENIX COUNSELING SERVICES, LLC

**Entity type:** Limited Liability Company

**UBI #:** 604-355-651

Business ID: 001

Location ID: 0004

**Location:** Active

**Location address:** 901 E 2ND AVE

STE 204

SPOKANE WA 99202-2257

Mailing address: PO BOX 30716

SPOKANE WA 99223-3011

Excise tax and reseller permit status: Click here

Secretary of State status: Click here

#### **Endorsements**

Endorsements held at this lo License #	Count	Details	Status	Expiration dal First issuance
Spokane General Business			Active	Nov-30-2023 Oct-26-2020

#### Governing People May include governing people not registered with Secretary of State

Governing people Title

MCBRIDE, BRANDY

#### **Registered Trade Names**

Registered trade names Status First issued

PHOENIX COUNSELING SERVICES, LLC Active Nov-26-2018

Registered trade names	Status	First issued
PHOENIX COUNSELING SERVICES, LLC - IV	Active	Aug-23-2019
PHOENIX COUNSELING SERVICES, LLC - V	Active	Jun-24-2022
PHOENIX COUNSELING SERVICES, LLC II	Active	Jan-28-2019
PHOENIX COUNSELING SERVICES, LLC III	Active	Jan-28-2019

#### View Additional Locations

The Business Lookup information is updated nightly. Search date and time: 6/26/2023 1:29:53 PM

#### **Contact us**

How are we doing? **Take our survey!** 

Don't see what you expected?

Check if your browser is supported





#### CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

Page 154(MM/DD/YYYY) 03/01/2022

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

tŀ	nis certificate does not confer rights	o the	cert	ificate holder in lieu of si			).			
PRO	DUCER				CONTAC NAME:	СТ				
Hiscox Inc.			PHONE (A/C, No	o. Ext): (888)	202-3007	FAX (A/C, No):				
	5 Concourse Parkway			E-MAIL ADDRES	conto	ct@hiscox.co				
	Suite 2150				,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,			NAIC#		
	Atlanta GA, 30328				Library Income of Community Inc			10200		
INSL	IRED					MONERA. 1 7				
	Phoenix Counseling Services, LLC				INSURE					
	901 E 2nd Ave Ste 204				INSURE					
	Spokane WA 99201				INSURE	RD:				
		INSURER E:								
INSURER F:					1					
				NUMBER:				REVISION NUMBER:		
IN C	HIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES IDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY RI ERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY XCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH	EQUIF PER1	REMEI	NT, TERM OR CONDITION THE INSURANCE AFFORD	OF ANY	Y CONTRACT THE POLICIES	OR OTHER I S DESCRIBEI	DOCUMENT WITH RESPE	CT TO	WHICH THIS
INSR		ADDL	SUBR			POLICY EFF (MM/DD/YYYY)		LIMI	TS.	
LTR	X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY	INSD	WVD	FOLICI NUMBER		(אואויאו) (אוא זייטטיואוואי)	(אוואו/טט/ז ז ז (ט)	EACH OCCURRENCE	\$ 1.00	000
	CLAIMS-MADE X OCCUR							DAMAGE TO RENTED	\$ 100	
	CLAIIVIS-IVIADE 1							PREMISES (Ea occurrence)	\$ 5,00	,
								MED EXP (Any one person)	\$ 1,00	
Α				UDC-4010014-CGL-2	.1	12/04/2021	12/04/2022	PERSONAL & ADV INJURY	\$ 1,00	
	GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:							GENERAL AGGREGATE	+ '	
	X POLICY PRO- JECT LOC							PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG	-	Gen. Agg.
	OTHER:							COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT	\$	
	AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY							(Ea accident)	\$	
	ANY AUTO OWNED SCHEDULED							BODILY INJURY (Per person)	\$	
	AUTOS ONLY AUTOS							BODILY INJURY (Per accident) PROPERTY DAMAGE		
	HIRED AUTOS ONLY NON-OWNED AUTOS ONLY							(Per accident)	\$	
									\$	
	UMBRELLA LIAB OCCUR							EACH OCCURRENCE	\$	
	EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE							AGGREGATE	\$	
	DED RETENTION \$								\$	
	WORKERS COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY							PER OTH- STATUTE ER		
	ANYPROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE	N/A						E.L. EACH ACCIDENT	\$	
	OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? (Mandatory in NH)	N/A						E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE	\$	
	If yes, describe under DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below							E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT	\$	
DES	CRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHIC	LES (	CORD	) 101, Additional Remarks Schedu	le, may b	e attached if more	e space is require	ed)		
	RTIEICATE HOLDER				CANC	CELL ATION				
CE	RTIFICATE HOLDER				CANC	CELLATION				
					THE ACC	EXPIRATION ORDANCE WI	I DATE THE TH THE POLIC	ESCRIBED POLICIES BE C EREOF, NOTICE WILL Y PROVISIONS.		
					AUTHO	RIZED REPRESEI	NTATIVE	1/1/2 = -		
					ı		Į.	Coul		

## GRANT AGREEMENT - GRT23999 BETWEEN

## WASHINGTON STATE ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE OF THE COURTS

#### **Spokane Municipal Court**

THIS AGREEMENT (Agreement) is made by and between, **Washington State Administrative Office of the Courts** (AOC) and Spokane Municipal Court , (Grantee), (collectively as the **Parties** and individually each as a **Party**).

The Parties hereby enter into this Agreement whereby Grantee will perform certain services for, and provide product deliveries to AOC. Grantee is subject to the terms and conditions specified in Attachment A and agrees to the following terms and conditions.

#### 1. SCOPE OF WORK

Grantee must use funding to identify individuals before their court with substance use disorders or other behavioral health needs and engage those individuals with community-based therapeutic interventions within the Grantee's jurisdiction in accordance with the Grantee's grant application, and Statement of Work (Attachment A). This contract constitutes an official award letter.

#### 2. TERM AND PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE

This Agreement's period of performance runs from July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023, unless otherwise terminated (Term). Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement and all its terms and conditions shall remain in full force and effect until all deliverables are completed or otherwise terminated, and this Agreement is terminated and/or completed.

#### 3. COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT

The awarded amount is \$421,018.00. Grantee will use the funds for the following cost categories (these amounts need to match what the grantee submitted in their application):

Cost Category	Amount
Personnel salaries & benefits	<sup>\$</sup> 70,018
Staff equipment & training	<sup>\$</sup> 6,000
Treatment services	\$ 320,000
Other participant services	\$ 25,000
Total	<sup>\$</sup> 421,018

Grantee may vary the amount in any particular category by up to 10%, but any adjustments beyond 10% require the explicit written consent of AOC's Project Manager, and in no case

may the total amount exceed the awarded amount above.

This amount includes expenses necessary or incidental to performing the items under the Statement of Work, including, but not limited to, travel, lodging and per diem related expenses. Grantee will submit an invoice after the completion and acceptance of each deliverable noted above.

This amount will be disbursed in two allotments, one in August 2022 and the second in January 2023 upon receipt of a properly filled out Form A-19.

#### 4. REPORTING

The Grantee must submit quarterly reports to AOC documenting the progress of their therapeutic court program. These reports will provide:

- The number of program participants for the corresponding quarter,
- The services provided to program participants for the corresponding quarter,
- The cost of services provided to program participants for the corresponding quarter,
- Other costs accrued by the Grantee to support the therapeutic court program during the corresponding quarter, and
- Any challenges faced by the Grantee in operating their therapeutic court program during the corresponding quarter.

#### Reports shall be submitted to

https://inside.courts.wa.gov/apps/therapeuticgrants/view/dsp\_therapeuticgrants.cfm on the following schedule:

Period	Report Due
07/01/22 - 09/16/22	09/30/22
09/17/22-02/14/23	02/28/23
02/15/23-06/30/23	07/15/23 (final report)

Failure to submit a report by the due date may adversely affect the Grantee's eligibility for future funding.

#### 5. BILLING PROCEDURES

Grantee will submit properly prepared Form A-19s via email to AOC Financial Services at <a href="mailto:payables@courts.wa.gov">payables@courts.wa.gov</a>. Invoices shall be submitted no more than twice during the pendency of the contract. Incorrect or incomplete invoices shall be returned by AOC to Grantee for correction and reissuance, and may result in delays in funding. All Invoices shall provide and itemize, at a minimum, the following:

- A. Contract Number GRT23999;
- B. Grantee name, address, phone number;
- C. Grantee Federal Tax Identification Number;

- D. Description of Services to be provided;
- E. Date(s) Services will be provided;
- F. Total Invoice Price.

Payment will be considered timely if made by the AOC within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of a properly prepared invoice. Payment shall be sent to the address designated by the Grantee.

The AOC may, in its sole discretion, terminate the contract or withhold payments claimed by the Grantee for services rendered if the Grantee fails to satisfactorily comply with any term or condition of this contract.

No payments in advance or in anticipation of services or supplies to be provided under this contract shall be made by the AOC.

#### 6. SAFEGUARDING OF INFORMATION

The use or disclosure by the Grantee of any information obtained as a result of performance under this contract concerning the AOC or the Court for any purpose not directly connected with the administration of the AOC's, the Court's or the Grantee's responsibilities with respect to services provided under this contract is prohibited except by written consent of the AOC or the Court.

#### 7. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Grantee warrants that at the date of execution of this Agreement, no organizational conflict of interest exists or is likely to arise in the performance of its obligations under the Subcontract. Grantee warrants that it shall advise AOC immediately if a conflict of interest arises in the future.

#### 8. PROJECT MANAGEMENT

The Project Manager for each of the parties shall be the contact person for all communications regarding the performance of this Contract.

AOC Project Manager	Grantee Project Manager
Stephanie Oyler PO Box 41170 Olympia, WA 98504-1170 Stephanie.Oyler@courts.wa.gov 360-890-0901	Michael Diamond 1100 W Mallon Ave Spokane, WA 99260 mdiamond@spokanecity.org
	509-622-5806

#### 9. ASSIGNMENT

Grantee agrees that none of the deliverables to be furnished under this Agreement shall be assigned or subcontracted (including to independent consultants) without the prior written permission of AOC.

#### 10. TERMINATION

#### A. Termination for Default

The AOC may, by written notice, terminate this contract, in whole or in part, for failure of the Grantee to perform any of the obligations or provisions required by the contract. In the event of default, the Grantee shall be liable for damages as authorized by law, including but not limited to, any cost difference between the original contract and the replacement or cover contract and all administrative costs directly related to the replacement contract, e.g., cost of the competitive bidding, mailing, advertising and staff time; Provided, that if (i) it is determined for any reason the Grantee was not in default, or (ii) the Grantee's failure to perform is without Grantee's and/or SubGrantee's control, fault, or negligence, the termination shall be deemed to be a Termination for Convenience.

#### **B.** Termination for Convenience

Except as otherwise provided in this contract, the AOC may terminate this contract by providing written notice of such termination to the Grantee, specifying the effective date thereof, at least five (5) calendar days prior to such date. If this contract is so terminated, the AOC shall be liable only for payment for services rendered prior to the effective date of termination.

#### 11. DISPUTES

The Parties agree to attempt to resolve any dispute arising under this Agreement first by elevating the matter to appropriate levels of management within each organization. Grantee agrees that pending any decision, appeal or judgment on the settlement of any dispute arising under this Agreement, Grantee shall proceed diligently with the performance of this Agreement.

#### 12. INDEMNIFICATION

The Grantee shall defend, protect, and hold harmless the state of Washington, the AOC, or any employees thereof, from and against all claims, suits or actions arising from the Grantee's acts which are libelous or slanderous, which result in injury to persons or property, which violate a right of confidentiality, or which constitute an infringement of any copyright, patent, trademark or trade name through use or reproduction of material of any kind.

#### 13. FORCE MAJEURE

Neither Grantee nor AOC shall be liable or responsible for delays or failures in performance resulting from events beyond the reasonable control of such party and without fault or negligence of such party. Such events shall include but not be limited to strikes, lockouts, riots, acts of war, epidemics, pandemics, acts of government, fire, power failures, nuclear accidents, earthquakes, unusually severe weather, acts of terrorism, or other disasters, whether or not similar to the foregoing, and acts or omissions or failure to cooperate of the other party or third parties (except SubGrantees).

#### 14. REPRESENTATION AND CERTIFICATIONS

Grantee shall complete all required Representations and Certifications as they apply to this Agreement, if any. Grantee further agrees that it will provide additional or annual Representations and Certifications as may be requested by AOC in connection with this Agreement, and also agrees to promptly notify AOC of any changes which modify the information contained in any such Representations and Certifications.

#### 15. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

Grantee shall comply with all applicable Federal, State, and local laws, executive orders, rules and regulations applicable to its performance under this Agreement.

#### 16. INDEPENDENT GRANTEES

Grantee is an independent Grantee in relation to AOC with respect to all matters arising under this Agreement. Nothing herein shall be construed to establish a partnership, joint venture, association or employment relationship between the parties. Neither Party shall be deemed to be an agent of the other or to have any authority to bind or create any obligation, express or implied, on behalf of the other.

#### 17. WHOLE AGREEMENT

This Agreement and the SOW attached hereto contain and embody the entire agreement of the Parties hereto and supersede all prior agreements, negotiations and discussions between the Parties hereto. Any representation, inducement or agreement that is not contained in this Agreement shall not be of any force or effect. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, this Agreement may not be modified or changed in whole or in part in any manner other than by an instrument in writing duly signed by both Parties hereto.

#### 18. GOVERNING LAW/VENUE

This Agreement will be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of Washington without giving effect to the principles of conflict of laws thereunder.

#### 19. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts and each counterpart shall constitute one and the same Agreement.

#### 20. WAIVER

No Party shall be deemed to have waived any right hereunder unless such waiver is in writing, and the waiver or failure of either Party to exercise in any respect any right provided for herein shall not be a waiver of any further right hereunder.

#### 21. SEVERABILITY

If any portion of this Agreement is held or determined to be invalid or unenforceable, the remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect as if this Agreement had been executed within the invalid portion eliminated.

**Administrative Office of the Courts** 

#### 22. HEADINGS

Any headings used in this Agreement are for purposes of organization only and have no independent legal significance.

In **WITNESS WHEREOF**, the parties hereto have caused this instrument to be signed as of the day and year below written.

Grantee

Docusigned by:	8/3/2022	Docusigned by: Michael Deamond	8/3/2022
Signature	Date	Signature	Date
Christopher Stanley		Michael Diamond	
Name		Name	
Director, MSD		Director of Community	Justice Services
Title		Title	

#### Attachment A

#### **Statement of Work:**

The Grantee must use funding to identify individuals before their court with substance use disorders or other behavioral health needs and engage those individuals with community-based therapeutic interventions within the Grantee's jurisdiction in accordance with the Grantee's grant application.

Funds can be used for the following costs categories:

- personnel salaries & benefits,
- staff equipment & training,
- treatment services (therapeutic services specifically designed to address SUD and MH) & compliance monitoring, and
- other participant services (other supportive services meant to ensure participant success- i.e. transportation services, including bus passes or car services providing transportation to court related activities and direct provision of meals, water and snacks).

#### Funds cannot be used for:

- replacing or supplementing the salary of current employees of the Grantee (employees must be taking on additional work or be a new employee to be eligible for funding),
- program incentives that constitute a gift or reward
- items and activities outside of the cost categories listed in the Grantee's contract.

The Grantee shall submit quarterly reports to AOC documenting the progress their therapeutic court program. These reports shall provide:

- the number of program participants for the corresponding quarter,
- the services provided to program participants for the corresponding quarter,
- the cost of services provided to program participants for the corresponding quarter
- other cost accrued by the Grantee to support the therapeutic court program during the corresponding quarter, and
- challenges faced by the Grantee in operating their therapeutic court program during the corresponding quarter.

#### Reports shall be **submitted to**

https://inside.courts.wa.gov/apps/therapeuticgrants/view/dsp\_therapeuticgrants.cfm on the following schedule:

#### Reporting schedule:

Period	Report Due
07/01/22-09/16/22	09/30/22
09/17/22-02/14/23	02/28/23
02/15/23-06/30/23	07/15/23
	(final report)

Failure to submit a report by the due date may adversely affect the Grantee's eligibility for future funding.

SPOKANE Agenda Sheet	for City Council Meeting of:	Date Rec'd	6/28/2023	
06/29/2023		Clerk's File #	RES 2023-0051	
		Renews #		
Submitting Dept	CITY COUNCIL	Cross Ref #		
<b>Contact Name/Phone</b>	BREEAN BEGGS X6254	Project #		
Contact E-Mail	BBEGGS@SPOKANECITY.ORG	Bid #		
Agenda Item Type	Resolutions	Requisition #		
Agenda Item Name	0320 - RESOLUTION REGARDING INTERIM APPOINTMENT OF CITY ATTORNEY			

#### **Agenda Wording**

A Resolution stating the Spokane City Council's position on the appointment of the current candidate serving in an interim capacity as the Interim City Attorney.

#### **Summary (Background)**

The current candidate serving in an interim capacity was initially appointed to serve as the Interim City Attorney on May 31, 2022, and was not nominated by the Mayor for permanent appointment nor was his interim position extended as provided by the SMC, and he is no longer eligible to serve as interim City Attorney. According to the City Charter and SMC, his appointment expired in November 2022.

Lease?	NO Gr	ant related?	NO	Public Works?	NO	
<b>Fiscal</b>	<u>Impact</u>			<b>Budget Acc</b>	<u>ount</u>	
Neutral	\$			#		
Select	\$			#		
Select	\$			#		
Select	\$			#		
Approv	<u>vals</u>			<b>Council Not</b>	ification	<u>s</u>
Dept He	<u>ead</u>	BYRD, GIACO	OBBE	Study Sessio	n\Other	06/29/2023
Division	n Director			Council Spon	sor	CP Beggs & CM Zappone
Finance	<u> </u>			Distribution	List	
Legal				gbyrd@spokanecity.org		
For the	<u>Mayor</u>			zzappone@spokanecity.org		
Additio	onal Approvals	<u> </u>		jgunn@spokane	ecity.org	
Purcha	<u>sing</u>					

## Committee Agenda Sheet Council Study Session June 29, 2023

### \*Select Committee Name\*

Submitting Department	City Council
Contact Name	CP Beggs, CM Zappone
Contact Email & Phone	jgunn@spokanecity.org
Council Sponsor(s)	CP Beggs, CM Zappone
Select Agenda Item Type	☐ Consent
Agenda Item Name	Resolution Regarding Interim Appointment of City Attorney
*use the Fiscal Impact box below for relevant financial information	City Charter section 24 provides that the mayor has the "power to appoint and remove the city attorney, provided such appointment shall be subject to the approval of the city council." SMC 03.01A.100 reaffirms that appointment of the City Attorney requires approval of the city council.  SMC 02.005.010 and SMC 03.01A.100 provide that permanent appointments must be presented to the city council for approval within 30 days, and that interim appointments serve no longer than 180 days, except as extended by the city council for an additional 180 days. In addition, SMC 03.01A.195 provides that the City Attorney shall not perform the duties of the position or be compensated until approved by the City Council.  The current candidate serving in an interim capacity was initially appointed to serve as the Interim City Attorney on May 31, 2022, and was not nominated by the Mayor for permanent appointment nor was his interim position extended as provided by the SMC, and he is no longer eligible to serve as interim City Attorney. According to the City Charter and SMC, his appointment expired in November 2022.  The resolution expresses the Council's position that the current candidate serving in an interim capacity has served without council approval since November 2022 and requests the Mayor either appoint a new person to the position of Interim City Attorney (to serve for an initial 180 days) or that the Mayor immediately nominate and present to the Council for confirmation a candidate for regular City Attorney. The resolution also requests the Washington State Auditor investigate the possible improper or illegal use of public
	funds arising from the current candidate serving in an interim capacity's continuation as Interim City Attorney without Council approval.
Proposed Council Action	Resolution
Fiscal Impact Total Cost: Unknown Approved in current year budg Funding Source	e-time   Recurring

Expense Occurrence   One-time   Recurring
Other budget impacts: (revenue generating, match requirements, etc.)
Operations Impacts (If N/A, please give a brief description as to why)
What impacts would the proposal have on historically excluded communities?
Credibility and trust in municipal government, especially among persons of color and historically excluded communities, depends on the perception and reality of Mayor's good faith effort to follow the law with respect to interim appointments. The failure of the Mayor to adhere to the Charter and SMC with respect to the appointment of the City Attorney undermines that credibility and trust. The resolution reaffirms the Council's prerogative with respect to certain mayoral appointments.
How will data be collected, analyzed, and reported concerning the effect of the program/policy by racial, ethnic, gender identity, national origin, income level, disability, sexual orientation, or other existing disparities?
Not applicable
How will data be collected regarding the effectiveness of this program, policy or product to ensure it is the right solution?
Not applicable
Describe how this proposal aligns with current City Policies, including the Comprehensive Plan, Sustainability Action Plan, Capital Improvement Program, Neighborhood Master Plans, Council Resolutions, and others?
The resolution is an attempt to ensure mayoral compliance with City Charter Section 24, SMC 03.01A.100, SMC 02.005.010 and SMC 03.01A.100, and to prevent the use of public funds that is otherwise illegal under SMC 03.01A.195.

#### **RESOLUTION NO. 2023-0051**

A Resolution stating the Spokane City Council's position on the appointment of the current candidate serving in an interim capacity as the Interim City Attorney.

- **WHEREAS,** the City of Spokane Charter, which can be understood as the constitution of our city, provides that the mayor has the "power to appoint and remove the city attorney, provided such appointment shall be subject to the approval of the city council;" and
- **WHEREAS,** per Section 03.01A.100 of the Spokane Municipal Code, "the appointment of the city attorney, the city clerk and the administrative heads and acting or interim head of each department requires approval of the city council; and
- **WHEREAS**, Sections 02.005.010 and 03.01A.100 of the Spokane Municipal Code further provide that permanent appointments be presented to the city council for approval within 30 days, and that interim appointments serve no longer than 180 days, except as extended by the city council for an additional 180 days; and
- **WHEREAS**, the current candidate for the position of Interim City Attorney was initially appointed to serve as the Interim City Attorney on May 31, 2022; and
- **WHEREAS,** following 180 days after the appointment, the Mayor neither nominated the candidate to be the regular City Attorney, nor formally requested that City Council extend the interim position for an additional one hundred eighty days; and
- **WHEREAS**, Spokane Municipal Code Section 03.01A.195 provides that the City Attorney, the City Clerk, and the administrative head of each department shall not perform the duties of the position or be compensated directly or indirectly by the City of Spokane until approved by the City Council; and
- **WHEREAS,** even if the Spokane City Council had voted to approve a requested extension of the interim appointment, the maximum time period of three hundred sixty days for an interim appointment has elapsed and thus the current candidate is no longer eligible to serve as the Interim City Attorney; and
- **WHEREAS**, the continued employment and compensation of the current candidate for Interim City Attorney likely violates the Spokane City Charter and the Spokane Municipal Code, and may expose the City of Spokane to legal challenges and serious negative consequences; and
- **WHEREAS**, the Mayor's failure to adhere to the Spokane City Charter, and the failure to adhere to Spokane Municipal Code requirements with respect to the unlawful extension of service by and level of compensation to the current candidate for Interim City Attorney, necessitates a formal resolution by the Spokane City Council that makes clear its position with respect to the current candidate for that position.

**NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED** that the Spokane City Council does not approve of the candidate currently filling the position of Interim City Attorney serving beyond the maximum allowed term of service of one hundred eighty days that expired in November of 2022, and requests that the Mayor immediately name an eligible person to the position of Interim City Attorney, to serve for an initial one hundred eighty days, or that the Mayor immediately nominate and present to the Council for confirmation a candidate for regular City Attorney, whichever comes first.

**NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED** that pursuant to RCW 43.09.050 the City of Spokane requests that the Washington State Auditor promptly investigate the possible improper or illegal use of public funds arising from this situation and provide further guidance to the City.

Passed by the City Council this _	day of, 2023.
	City Clerk
Approved as to form:	
Assistant City Attorney	